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CLEARWATER BASIN PROJECT ACT,
AIIAPARO AND ROOSEVELT NATIONAL FOR
ESTS LAN]) EXCHANGE ACT; AND HIGH
LANDS CONSERVATION ACT

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 24, 2004

U.S. SENATE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON PUBLIC LANDS AND FORESTS,

COMMITTEE ON ENERGY AND NATURAL RESOURCES,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:32 p.m., in room
SD—366, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Larry E. Craig pre
siding.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. LARRY E. CRAIG,
U.S. SENATOR FROM IDAHO

Senator CmuG. Good afternoon, everyone. The Subcommittee of
Public Lands and Forests of the full Committee of Energy and Nat
ural Resources will be convened.

This afternoon we are giving an oversight hearing to H.R. 1964,
a bill to assist four States in conserving priority lands in the High
lands region of New York, New Jersey, Connecticut, and Pennsyl
vania; S. 433, a bill to enhance collaborative forest stewardship
within the Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests in my home
State of Idaho; and 5. 2180, Senator Campbell’s Arapaho-Roosevelt
National Forest land exchange to allow the completion of a city of
Golden, Colorado pipeline.

First and foremost, I want to welcome Congressman Freling
huysen who is with us here to testify on a bill that he has worked
mightily hard on, H.R. 1964. I understand that possibly Senator
Specter and Senator Santorum will be joining. I know this is an
important piece of legislation to your constituency, Congressman. I
have met with the Congressman, the sponsor of H.R. 1964, and
would like to make a couple of observations and address a couple
of issues that I hope our witness will be able to speak to today.

First, I believe this legislation should do a better job in describ
ing the boundaries of the lands involved in the Highlands area.
Senator Corzine has just joined him and will be testifying also. I
am commenting, at least in the opening comments, Senator, on the
Highlands bifi.

In my mind, the American public deserves a more refined de
scription of the area covered in the legislation. I do not think that
the language currently used to describe the boundaries of the High
lands area, as defined by the Reading prong and the ecologically

(1)



2

similar, adjacent upland areas that encompass more than 2 million
acres, is a clear enough description for most people of the actual
area we seek to protect. I want to know how much more than 2
million acres, if at all possible, and what ecologically similar, adja
cent uplands really means.

I have seen maps from The Highlands Coalition that extend the
area all the way to the Maryland border and south to Gettysburg,
Pennsylvania. I hope we will be able to establish how large an area
we are really talking about.

Next, I find it very difficult to understand who is responsible for
nominating the areas to be preserved. In section 5, the bill clearly
says the areas have to have been identified by the Forest Service
in the original Highlands study and its 2000 update. In the defini
tions under land conservation partnership project, it again indi
cates that the Forest Service has identified projects having high
conservation values. As near as I can see, the Forest Service has
listed only potential projects in New York and New Jersey, thus
other language in section 5 suggesting that the Governors of the
four States can nominate projects would seem to be in conflict.

Additionally, I see no areas in Pennsylvania or Connecticut that
have been identified by the Forest Service in those studies. This
warrants a bit of elaboration then as to why this bill is not limited
only, let us say, to the States of New York and New Jersey.

Finally, on H.R. 1964, I see we are going to fund up to half of
the purchase price of these lands with Federal dollars. What I fail
to see is any provision that requires or ensures a public process
that would allow the public or nearby landowners to at least com
ment on the proposed acquisitions and the management of those
areas after they are acquired. Coming from a heavily Federalized
State, as I do, where our public land managers cannot even build
a picnic table without an environmental assessment and sometimes
an environmental impact statement—and that would even include
an appeals process—I have to wonder why similar language has
been left out of the legislation. In my mind, the fact that 50 percent
of the money being used to purchase the land is Federal money
does trigger that potential concern.

The public in my State has at least as much interest in what is
being acquired and how it will be managed. So do the folks in New
York and New Jersey and Connecticut and Pennsylvania who com
ment on Federal timber sales in my State have the same concern
about projects in their States? I think a reasonable concern.

To paraphrase the folks who continually demand access to Fed
eral management decisions—and I quote. I have heard it too
often—it is public land and all Americans have a right to comment
on how it is managed.

I know this proposal is very, very important to the delegation of
the States, and I look forward to working with you to make this
legislation what we can and making it better. I want you to hear
this: I want to help you get this passed and signed into law.

Let me comment on 5. 433, the Clearwater Basin Project Act.
This bill that I have cosponsored in some ways provides an inter
esting comparison to H.R. 1964. The sponsors of H.R. 1964 tell me
their proposal has broad public support and they do not feel they
need to encumber their land managers with additional environ-
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mental processes. In the instance of S. 433, the local folks in the
Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests would like more input
into the decision making process and more input into when, where,
and how stewardship contracts are undertaken in this area as well.
These same people have been very frustrated by the inability and
the unwillingness of the Federal land managers to deal with insect,
disease, and other forest-related issues in central Idaho.

Thus, I hope that we can work together to help the people of New
York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Connecticut in H.R. 1964 and
that these delegations will help us and the constituents of my State
allow a greater part of public input and local input into the proc
ess.

Last we are going to take testimony on 5. 2180, the Arapaho
Roosevelt Land Exchange. This legislation was passed in the House
of Representatives as H.R. 2766. It was introduced by Senator Ben
Campbell to my right of Colorado. It facilitates a land exchange so
that a water pipeline can be completed across Forest Service lands,
thus allowing the city of Golden, Colorado to complete a reservoir
project that is badly needed by that city. Anytime I see a city giv
ing the Federal Government 140 acres in exchange for less than 10
acres, I know the city really needs to complete this exchange.

We are having a prolonged drought in the West and this res
ervoir will increase the city’s water storage capacity by 40 percent
if the pipeline can be completed. I hope that we can all work to
gether to expedite this bill.

I would ask the witnesses to limit their oral comments to no
more than 5 minutes. We will include both your written and oral
testimony in the official record of the hearing. We will keep the
record of the hearing open for 10 days and you are welcome to send
the subcommittee any additional testimony or comments you want.

Now, before I call Senator Corzine and Congressman Freling
huysen before us, let me turn to my colleague from Colorado for
any statement that he would want to make. And we have just been
joined by the Senator from New York who is interested in the
Highlands bill. Ben.

[The prepared statement of Senator Santorum follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. RICK SANTORUM, U.S. SENATOR
FROM PENNsYLVANIA, ON H.R. 1964

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, thank you for the opportunity to
submit this statement regarding the critical need for conserving the natural re
sources and wildlife habitat of the Highlands region, a significant portion of which
stretches through Pennsylvania.

The Pennsylvania Highlands are comprised of more than one million acres of un
spoiled, mountainous woodland that arc across the most densely settled and fastest
growing portions of the state. This national treasure provides drinking water and
recreational opportunities for millions of citizens in my commonwealth from the
areas surrounding Philadelphia, Harrisburg, York, Lancaster, and the Lehigh Val
ley.

Rivers such as the Delaware, Lehigh, Schuylkill and Susquehanna, flowing from
the Pennsylvania Highlands region, are naturally filtered by this pristine woodland,
enabling millions of state residents to have access to clean and reliable drinking
water. In heavily urbanized Southeast Pennsylvania, the Highlands are one of the
most important wildlife habitat areas that protect a dwindling array of species. The
Highlands also afford a number of recreational opportunities such as hiking along
the nationally renowned Appalachian Trail and whitewater rafting down the Lehigh
River. Superb hunting and fishing opportunities also abound in the Highlands area.
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Clearly, preservation of the Highlands region is an important conservation initia
tive. According to the most recent study by the USDA Natural Resources Conserva
tion Service, Pennsylvania currently ranks fifth in the nation for acreage of rural
land that has been converted for development. In addition, the Delaware River
Basin Commission reports that this trend of sprawl endangers a stretch of the wa
tershed most vital for maintaining water quality in the Delaware River.

I have consistently supported conservation efforts that are compatible with pri
vate property rights. The measure the Committee considered today strikes the right
balance between protecting a significant natural resource and wildlife habitat and
addressing the concerns of private property owners. I thank the Chairman for hold
ing this hearing today, and I urge the Committee to take swift action to approve
this measure.

STATEMENT OF HON. BEN NIGHTHORSE CAMPBELL,
U.S. SENATOR FROM COLORADO

Senator CAMPBELL. Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent to
submit my complete opening statement for the record and abbre
viate a little bit, if it is all right.

This deals with 5. 2180. I know that sounds a little strange I
guess why a city would trade 10 acres for 140-foot stretch of
ground, but in this case it is an extremely important exchange.

As you mentioned, this bill passed as H.R. 2766 last year. We did
not do any hearings on it, though, and so I elected to reintroduce
it this year so that the committee would also be aware of the im
portance of this bill to the city of Golden in our State in what looks
like is going to be probably the fifth year of drought we have had
out there.

In this exchange, the city would receive 10 acres. The city needs
this land to complete the construction of just a 140-foot stretch of
pipeline connecting the west fork of Clear Creek with a brand new
water storage reservoir known as the Guanella Reservoir. This res
ervoir is already complete and sits there and has not been filled,
obviously because they have not been able to get the last little
piece of the puzzle so they can start storing the water.

But the legislation is critical. The national forest boundary and
the authorization is needed from either the Forest Service or from
Congress to complete that small remaining stretch of land, and
until that authorization is provided, the reservoir is going to re
main empty as we move more and more toward the summer
months. The Forest Service has indicated it would take quite some
time, possibly years, if they do it through their normal process, to
authorize the pipeline, and we have agreed with them that this
land exchange is probably the best approach for everybody’s needs
and timeframes.

Additionally, I would like to note that while providing the city of
Golden the ability to finish a critical water storage supply, the pro
posal would also benefit I think the United States. In return for
the 10 acres it will give up, the Forest Service will receive up to
80 acres of land near a popular trail and recreation area in Ever
green, Colorado and will also receive another 55 acres of land on
and near the Continental Divide National Scenic Trail in Clear
Creek and Summit Counties. The 55 acres are located along one of
the most popular stretches of the trail and is one of the ways
hikers and other users can access the popular Gray’s and Torrey’s
Peaks, two of the most heavily climbed 14,000-foot peaks in our
State.
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Further, the bill provides that all land values will be determined
in accordance with the Forest Service appraisal procedures, so we
will be ensuring that the United States wifi receive full market
value for its land.

In addition, the city is making a donation to the Continental Di
vide Trail lands above which are required. I think it is really truly
a win-win situation for both the Federal Government and the city
of Golden, too.

It is supported not only by the county commissioners of all three
counties that are involved in the land exchange, but the Conti
nental Divide Trail Alliance, which is a nonprofit group, the city of
Black Hawk Public Works Department, the Georgetown Loop Sce
nic Railway, and numerous other groups. So I think it is a very
good bill and I look forward to the swift passage of it from the com
mittee.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Senator Campbell follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. BEN NIGHTHORSE CAMPBELL,
U.S. SENATOR FROM COLORADO, ON S. 2180

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to introduce a bill today that would effect a small
land exchange to help the City of Golden, Colorado in its efforts to augment its
water supply, that it might better prepare for a resumption of the drought which
has plagued our state in the past several years. The bill I am proposing would direct
that the U.S. Forest Service complete a land exchange with the City of Golden at
the earliest possible date.

In the land exchange, the City would receive approximately 10 acres of National
Forest land near Empire, Colorado. The City needs this land to complete construc
tion of a 140-foot stretch of water pipeline connecting the West Fork of Clear Creek
with a brand new water storage reservoir, known as the Guanella Reservoir, which
the City completed in December. The Guanella Reservoir will increase the City’s ex
isting water storage capacity by approximately 40 percent, and better enable it to
cope with future water shortages.

This legislation is critical, because while the Guanella Reservoir is now completed,
as is the diversion dam, penstock, and all but 140 feet of the connecting pipelines,
the reservoir remains dry. In short, the pipeline is completed up to the National
Forest boundary, and authorization is needed from either the Forest Service or Con
gress to complete the small remaining stretch of pipeline that must cross National
Forest land. Until that authorization is provided, the reservoir is sitting empty, and
that is a situation we do not want to see continued into the dry summer months.
Unfortunately, the Forest Service has indicated it would take quite some time (pos
sibly several years) to authorize the pipeline, and we have agreed with them that
this land exchange is the best approach to meet everyone’s needs and time frames.

For this reason, I am introducing this important legislation, and ask the Com
mittee on Energy and Natural Resources to expedite it in every way possible.

Additionally, I would like to note that while providing the City of Golden the abil
ity to finish s critical water storage project, my proposal is also a beneficial deal
for the United States. In return for the 10 acres it will give up, the Forest Service
will receive up to 80 acres of land near—a popular trail and recreation area in Ever
green, Colorado, and will also receive 55 acres of land on and near the Continental
Divide National Scenic Trail in Clear Creek and Summit Counties. The 55 acres are
located along one of the most popular stretches of the Trail, and are one of the ways
hikers and other users can access the popular Gray’s and Torrey’s Peaks, two of the
most heavily-climbed 14,000-foot peaks in our state. Further, my bill provides that
all land values will be detennined in accordance with Forest Service appraisal pro
cedures, so we will be insuring that the United States will receive full market value
for its land. In addition, the City is making a donation of Continental Divide Trail
lands above which are required. I believe this is truly a “win-win” situation for all
concerned, and commend the City for making the additional donation to the Forest
Service.

Finally, I would like to note that my proposal has been endorsed by the County
Commissioners of all three counties that have lands involved in the trade, the non-
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profit Continental Divide Trail Alliance, the City of Black Hawk Public Works Department, the Georgetown Loop Scenic Railroad, and by numerous others.
As well, in an encouraging show of unity, this legislation is supported by the en

tire Colorado Congressional Delegation, including Senator Allard who is cospon
soring the bill in the Senate, and as evidenced by the passing of a similar bill inthe House last fall.

Again, I would recommend this legislation for my colleagues’ quick approval inorder that the City of Golden can get on with its urgent needs to supply adequateadditional water to its residents this summer.
I ask that a copy of my remarks he printed in the Record.
Thank you, and I yield the floor.

Senator C1uG. Senator, before the room filled with people today,
I paced off the room from this wall to that wall to determine its
length to try to understand what 140 feet of right-of-way is—and
that is what we are talking about—for a pipeline to be laid, con
necting water source with reservoir. So we are talking about a dis
tance about twice the length of this room. It is going to cost hun
dreds of thousands, if not millions, of dollars of process required
under Federal law to allow this to happen. Sometimes I agree with
Pogo, and for those of you who are not familiar with that, he dis
covered that the enemy was himself.

With that, I will turn to my colleague from New York, Senator
Schumer.

STATEMENT OF HON. CHARLES E. SCHIJMER, U.S. SENATOR
FROM NEW YORK

Senator SCHUMER. I hope there was no intended segue there, Mr.
Chairman.

[Laughter.]
Senator CRAIG. None whatsoever. Those in New York are, on oc

casion, enlightening. Please proceed.
Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I want to

thank you for holding this hearing, and I want to take the oppor
tunity to lend my strong support to HR. 1964, which is the High
lands Conservation Act. I want to thank Senator Corzine and Con
gressman Frelinghuysen who have done a great job on this issue,
as well as the director of The Highlands Coalition, Thomas Gilbert,
for his hard work and dedication to the cause.

The Highlands region is an environmentally unique area that en
compasses more than 2 million acres, extending from eastern Penn
sylvania through New Jersey and New York to parts of Con
necticut. It is located within an hour of 25 million Americans, form
ing a greenbelt of forest and farmland in the backyard of the Phila
delphia, New York, and Hartford metropolitan areas. The High
lands play an extremely vital role to the region. They provide clean
drinking water to over 15 million people, serve as a home to wild
life habitat for 247 threatened and endangered species, and 14 mil
lion visitors make use of the area’s recreational resources every
year.

In my State of New York, people are very proud of our open
spaces and we value the importance of protecting, conserving, and
restoring areas of great natural and cultural importance. The pre
cious resources of the Highlands region, in combination with their
proximity to the largest metropolitan areas in the United States,
makes the Highlands nationally significant according to the U.S.
Forest Service.
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Despite this special status, vital open spaces in the Highlands
are being lost to suburban sprawl, about 5,000 acres annually in
the New York-New Jersey Highlands alone. Continued population
growth and land use patterns in the Highlands region not only
threatens the availability and quality of water, but air quality, for
est growth, migration corridors, forest habitat, and these result in
the loss of recreational opportunities and scenic, historic, and cul
tural resources.

So, Mr. Chairman, we have to do everything we can to prevent
the Highlands from being decimated by continued urban growth
and development. This bill appropriately recognizes the serious
threats facing the region and seeks to promote the conservation of
natural resources and priority conservation lands within the High
lands region. We have a responsibility for protecting and con
serving the resources of the Highlands region, and unless serious
steps are taken soon to protect the Highlands, the future will be
in jeopardy.

So with that, Mr. Chairman, I thank you and welcome our wit
nesses today on H.R. 1964.

Senator CI?SJG. Well, thank you very much, Senator, for that tes
timony.

Now let us ask our first panelists to come forward, the Honorable
Jon Corzine, Senator from New Jersey, the Honorable Rodney
Frelinghuysen, U.S. Congressman from New Jersey. Please be seat
ed, gentlemen. Senator, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF HON. JON CORZINE, U.S. SENATOR
FROM NEW JERSEY

Senator CORZINE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate very
much your holding this hearing. I have a formal statement which
I will submit for the record.

Senator CIAIG. Without objection, it will become a part of the
record.

Senator CORZINE. It actually feels and sounds almost as if Sen
ator Schumer and I went to the same school of writing with regard
to subject matter.

This is a big deal for all of us in all four States. This is an in
credibly unique property which I think Congressman Freling
huysen and I would both argue is reasonably defined, that 2 mil
lion acres, within the Forest Service’s previous studies. There is
work afoot to make sure that studies are in place in Pennsylvania
for certain. Senator Specter has been very active in promoting that.

I will speak formally that there are no forced sales at all in this
project. So as a consequence, there will be full public comment
within the context of what is happening, although we are very open
to working with you, Mr. Chairman, to make sure that we address
the issues.

The idea that 14 million visitors and 11 million folks are depend
ent on clean water I really think speaks for itself. It is one of the
most beautiful areas that still remain on the eastern seaboard. Our
States are all making commitments to join in partnership in this
effort. It is a very active issue in New Jersey discussions both at
the Governor’s level and through the State legislature.
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So I look forward to the work that will actually allow this to
come together because I need to be as helpful as my colleague, Con
gressman Frelinghuysen, has been on this. He has been a hero on
this throughout the 1990’s. I am a newcomer to this fight. He has
done absolutely everything that anyone could ever expect in trying
to work in a bipartisan way to address the issues of concern on the
House side and certainly has encouraged me to try to reach out in
the same way here. He really is the leader on this more than any
one with respect to trying to bring this to a positive conclusion. I
look forward to working with him and his staff and yours as well
to see if we can somehow or another work through the concerns
that you expressed in your opening statement.

But we are very pleased. This is truly something that is of a bi
partisan nature in our communities and one that I think will make
a very lasting legacy for the millions and millions of people in the
surrounding area.

Thank you very much for holding this hearing.
[The prepared statement of Senator Corzine follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. JON S. CORZINE, U.S. SENATOR
FROM NEW JERSEY, ON H.R. 1964

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for agreeing to hold a hearing today on the Highlands
Conservation Act. This is important legislation that Would help protect the open
space in the Highlands Forest that runs through New York, Pennsylvania, Con
necticut and my state of New Jersey. I appreciate your willingness to consider the
bill seriously, and hope we can work together with all the members of the Sub
committee to secure its prompt enactment.

I also want to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to Congressman
Rodney Frelinghuysen, who successfully secured approval of this bill on a unani
mous vote in the House of Representatives last year. As the Chairman of the House
resources Committee, Congressman Pombo, has said, Congressman Frelinghuysen’s
work on this bill provides a model of how to get conservation bills passed through
Congress in a bipartisan way. And it has been a real privilege for me to work so
closely with Congressman Frelinghuysen on this bill.

Mr. Chairman, the legislation being discussed today is a modified version of S.
999, the highlands Stewardship Act, which I introduced last year with the support
of my fellow Senators from New Jersey, New York, Connecticut and Pennsylvania.
The goal of the legislation is to preserve one of the last open apace treasures in our
densely populated region, the Appalachian Highlands Forest.

Mr. Chairman, the Highlands region stretches from northwestern Connecticut,
across the lower Hudson River valley in New York, through my State of New jersey
and into east-central Pennsylvania. It encompasses more than two million acres of
forest, farms, streams, wetlands, lakes and reservoirs. It also includes historic aites,
such as Morristown National Historic Park, where George Washington had his
headquarters during the American Revolution, and the United States Military Acad
emy at West Point.

Mr. Chairman, the value of the natural, recreational and scenic resources of the
Highlands cannot be overstated. Highlands aquifers provide quality drinking water
for over 11 million people. And the Highlands provide a home to well over 200
threatened or endangered species.

In addition, the Highlands serve more than 14 million people, who visit for recre
ation. That’s more than Yellowstone National Park. One in nine Americans live
within two hours of the Highlands. Unfortunately, these lands are at risk. According
to the Forest Service, more than 5,000 acres of forest and farm land in the New
York and New Jersey sections of the Highlands have been lost annually to develop
ment between 1995 and 2000, and nearly 300,000 acres of land critical to future
water supplies remain unprotected.

Mr. Chairman, this legislation is an important step in protecting the Highlands.
It is modeled after the successful Federal-state partnership that was used to protect
much of Sterling Forest, a crown jewel of the Highlands. The bill calls on the gov
ernors of the four states to recommend conservation projects within certain threat
ened areas. It also would authorize $100 million over the next ten years for ease
ments or acquisition of land within those areas. As in the preservation of Sterling
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Forest, the money would come from the Federal side of the Land and Water Con
servation Fund.

Mr. Chairman, the only land to he acquired would be land owned by people who
want to sell. This amendment would not force anyone to sell, nor interfere with any
other property right. Nor would the amendment interfere with any local zoning ordi
nance or local government land use plan. Nor would it create any new federal own
ership or management responsibilities. Title to the land or easement purchased
would belong to the state where it is located.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, the Highlands are a national treasure, and it is crit
ical that they be preserved. I hope we can work cooperatively to make that happen.

Senator CltkIG. Jon, thank you for that testimony. You have pro
vided an excellent segue, as we turn to the Congressman. The Con
gressman has aggressively but appropriately pursued me and a
hearing for this legislation to move it forward, and I appreciate his
commitment to the project and to the value resource as he sees it.
So we appreciate your being here and look forward to your testi
mony. Please proceed.

STATEMENT OF HON. RODNEY FRELINGHUYSEN,
U.S. REPRESENTATWE FROM NEW JERSEY

Mr. FRELINGHUYSEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for having this
hearing. I appreciate your keeping your word for setting this up.
Let me echo, as Senator Corzine has said of me, his unparalleled
support for the Highlands Conservation Act. It has been my pleas
ure to work with him.

At the outset, I would like to ask permission to include in the
record of this hearing a statement from the gentleman from New
Jersey, Congressman Saxton, a senior member of the House Com
mittee on Natural Resources, if that is agreeable.

Senator C1t4JG. Without objection, that will become a part of the
record.

Mr. FRELINGHUYSEN. Mr. Chairman, not to be redundant but
President Bush’s fiscal year 2004 forest legacy budget designated,
indeed, the Highlands as one of nine national priority areas threat
ened by development, and there is good reason for that designation.
5,000 acres on an annual basis are being developed in the High
lands region and we need to do something and we need to do it
soon.

It has been pointed out that this area affects the high quality
drinking water for over 15 million Americans and over 25 million
Americans live within an hour’s drive of these valuable watersheds.

More important than the numbers, however, is that this bill fits
into the Bush administration’s vision for land conservation. In a
Nation where the government owns 1 out of every 5 acres of land
and is responsible for maintaining 1 out of every 4 acres, we all
need to be aware that operations and maintenance costs to the
Federal Government have increased dramatically, endangering the
very assets we all seek to preserve.

Please be assured that this proposal stresses local responsibility
and public-private partnership. In fact, this bill does not call for
any Federal ownership, nor does it call for any future Federal
maintenance and upkeep.

As Senator Corzine has stated, instead this bill will require State
and local governments to work with willing sellers. There are no
strong-arm tactics here. Similar to the forest legacy program, the
Highlands Stewardship Act only provides Federal assistance to
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willing sellers. In short, this bill is seeking a helping hand from the
Federal Government rather than an over-regulating, strong-armed
mandate.

Local communities, the counties, involved welcome the partner
ship. Not one community, municipality, county, or public entity has
expressed opposition.

I should also say that this bill, as has been stated, is very impor
tant to New Jersey and New York and Connecticut. By not pro
viding Federal ownership or future Federal maintenance respon
sibilities and by acquiring land from only willing sellers, H.R. 1964
does, indeed, conform to the administration’s best practices and vi
sion for land acquisition.

I introduced this bill last May with 30 bipartisan cosponsors. The
bill was the subject of a hearing before Chairman Radanovich’s
subcommittee in June. From that moment until passage by the
House on November 21, I worked, as I told you, with Chairman
Pombo and members of his Resource Committee, all of whom are
highly opinionated on land use issues, to address each and every
concern they had. In this context, I would like to share with you
the words of Chairman Pombo on the House floor last November,
and I quote.

“I will tell my colleagues, on any legislation like this in the lii
ture that we choose to move through the Committee on Re
sources, we will use this bill”—he was referring to mine—”as
a template, as a way to get things done in a bipartisan way
in trying to move forward with a Federal and local partnership
in protecting lands that are environmentally sensitive and that
are important, but at the same time protecting the property
rights of those individual owners, which is something that is
extremely important to me.”

This is important to all of us. This legislation is completely con
sistent with Secretary Norton’s four C’s, the National Park Serv
ice’s guiding principles: conservation through cooperation, consulta
tion and communication. Secretary Norton reiterated those prin
ciples before my Energy and Water Appropriations Subcommittee
just this month.

This is, as Senator Corzine said, a big deal for the States of New
York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Connecticut. It has every
thing to do with our future in terms of water resources and purity
and recreational value. We are keen on getting the bill moved.

And we appreciate your genuine commitment to help us work
through the process to get this bill done, and we would be pleased
to address all of those issues you raised, including the definitions
of the boundaries, if we need to tighten those up. But to some ex
tent, we are taking some guidance from the U.S. Forest Service,
which actually expanded this from sort of a New Jersey and New
York Highlands to include both Connecticut and Pennsylvania. So
we will be happy to work on the boundary issue and any other
issues that we can address that would work toward your commit
tee’s eventual approval.

Thank you.
[The prepared statements of Mr. Frelinghuysen and Mr. Saxton

follow:j
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. RODNEY P. FRELINGRUYSEN,
U.S. REPRESENTATWE FROM NEW JERSEY, ON HR. 1964

Good afternoon, Chairman Craig, Ranking Member Wyden, members of the Sub
committee, thank you for allowing me this opportunity to testify in support of my
legislation, H.R. 1964, the Highlands Conservation Act.

(At the outset, I would like to ask permission to include in the record of this hear
ing a statement by the gentleman from New Jersey, Mr. Jim Saxton, a senior Mem
ber of House Committee on Natural Resources.)

Mr. Chairman, President Bush’s Fiscal Year 2004 Forest Legacy Budget des
ignates the Highlands as one of nine national priority areas threatened by develop
ment. There is good reason for this designation.

The time to act is now! The U.S. Forest Service Study found that each year more
than 5000 acres of the New York/New Jersey Highlands are being developed. From
1990 to 2000, the population within the Highlands increased by 11 percent. When
you consider that New Jersey is already the most densely populated state in the
union, this is a significant increase.

While it is not my intention to drop a laundry list of numbers highlighting the
Highlands importance to the northeast, several noteworthy examples are in order:

According to a US Forest Service Study on the area, the Highlands watershed
lands contain reservoirs and aquifers that provide and protect high quality drinking
water for over 15 million Americans.

Over 25 million Americans live with in an hour’s drive of these invaluable water
sheds, wildlife habitat, and recreation opportunities that lie in the roughly 2 million
acres that encompass the Highlands.

More important than these numbers, however, is the fact that this bill fits into
the Bush Administration’s vision for land conservation. In a nation where the gov
ernment owns 1 in every five acres of land and is responsible for maintaining 1 out
of every 4 acres, we all need to be aware that operations and maintenance costs to
the Federal government have increased dramatically endangering the very assets
we all seek to preserve and protect.

Please be assured this proposal stresses local responsibility and public/private
partnerships. In fact, this bill does not call for any Federal ownership, nor does it
call for any future Federal maintenance and upkeep.

Instead, this bill would require state and local governments to work with willing
sellers. Similar to the Federal Forest Legacy Program, the Highlands Stewardship
Act only provides Federal financial assistance for willing sellers. In short, this bill
is seeking a helping hand from the Federal government rather than an over-regu
lating, strong armed mandate.

Local communities welcome this Federal partnership and 24 towns and 4 New
Jersey Counties have passed resolutions in support of the conserving the Highlands’
resources. Notably, not one community has expressed opposition.

At the Federal level, along with a large number of our colleagues from New York,
Connecticut, and Pennsylvania, the entire New Jersey delegation has co-sponsored
this bill. Thus, this truly is a bipartisan effort. The bipartisan spirit exists because
the bill provides deference to local authority, while recognizing the need for Federal
assistance to preserve nationally significant natural resources in our local forest
areas, just as Congress did with a similar collaborative state/Federal partnership
seven years ago with Sterling Forest.

In short, this bill is important to New Jersey, New York, Connecticut, and Penn
sylvania. By not providing Federal ownership or future Federal maintenance re
sponsibilities, and by acquiring land from only willing sellers, H.R. 1964 conforms
to the Bush Administration’s best practices and vision for land acquisition. As such,
I see this bill as a victory for the Congress and the President.

I want to close by reflecting on the path this legislation took in the House.
I introduced this legislation last May with 30 bipartisan cosponsors. The bill was

the subject of a hearing before Chairman Radanovich’s Subcommittee in June. From
that moment until passage by the House on November 21, 1 worked with Chairman
Richard Pombo and Members of the Resource Committee, the Committee staff and
interested parties like the National Association of Homebuilders to address each
and every concern they may have.

It is in this context that I want to share with you the words of Chairman Richard
Pombo on the House floor last November:

Quote: “I will tell my colleagues, on any legislation like this in the future that we
choose to move through the Committee on Resources, we will use this bill as a tem
plate, as a way to get things done in a bipartisan way in trying to move forward
with a Federal and a local partnership in protecting lands that are environmentally
sensitive and that are important, but at the same time protecting the property rights
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of those individual owners, which is something that is extremely important to me”
Close quote.

Mr. Chairman, it’s very important to all of us.
This legislation is completely consistent with the four C’s Secretary Norton has

used as the National Park Service’s guiding principals—Conservation through Co
operation, Consultation and Communication. In fact, Secretary Norton reiterated
these principals before our Energy and Water Appropriations Subcommittee just
this month.

With this legislation, we have an opportunity to sustain a genuine and critically
important partnership between the federal government and state governments and
local groups, all in the name of preserving open space.

Mr. Chairman, the partnership we seek today is between the House and the Sen
ate. In this regard, I respectfully urge your Committee’s support of H.R. 1964. I
thank you for your time. I welcome any questions you may have.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. JIM SAXTON, U.S. REPRESENTATWE
FROM NEW JERSEY, ON HR. 1964

I am so pleased Chairman Craig, Vice-Chair Burns and Ranking Member Wyden,
of the Subcommittee on Public Lands and Forests, have agreed to hold a hearing
on H.R. 1964, The Highlands Conservation Act. My colleague, Mr. Frelinghuysen,
also of New Jersey, has introduced this important piece of conservation legislation.

I have long been an advocate for, and worked hard to preserve open space and
prevent the encroachment on and development of significant tracts of land in both
my district and throughout the State of New Jersey.

I am proud of the fact that New Jersey has been a leader on the issue of open
space, recognizing the importance of not developing every acre of land possible.

We need areas of undeveloped land, for a wide range of reasons, from habitat pro
tection to simply providing areas for people to recreate and enjoy the outdoors.

In Burlington County, which is in my Congressional district for example, there
are over 162,000 acres of protected land. There is 4,000 acres of Federally protected
land, which is primarily in the New Jersey Pine Barrens; 130,000 acres of State-
held acres, of which 120,000 is also located in the Pinelands; the Municipality has
8,000 acres and the County 1,500 acres; 4,000 acres are held by Non-Profit organiza
tions and there are over 15,000 acres acquired as Farmland Preservation areas.

This is an impressive number of acres and demonstrates New Jersey’s ongoing
commitment to these important and often fragile lands and ecosystems.

Mr. Frelinghuysen has also recognized this important need, which is why he in
troduced this piece of conservation legislation. The New York/New Jersey High
lands, consisting of nearly 2 million acres, has been identified by the U.S. Forest
Service and virtually all other federal, state, local and private authorities as critical
lands in need of preservation.

This region provides and protects the drinking water supplies for over 15 million
residents of the New York and Philadelphia metropolitan areas. The Highlands re
gion hosts more than 14 million recreational visits annually, which is more than
Yellowstone and many of our national treasures in the West.

The USDA Forest Service found that over 5,000 acres of land are being developed
a year in the NY-NJ Highlands alone, threatening the quantity and quality of water
supplies, and other critical resources in the Highlands.

Currently, 294,000 acres, which is 77% of high-value lands in the Highlands are
unprotected and 100,000 acres of this high-value land are immediately threatened.

I was pleased this legislation was reported out of the House Committee on Re
sources on October 29, 2003, and I encourage the Senate Committee on Energy and
Natural Resources to do the same,’ to enable this legislation to then come before
the Full House and Senate and be signed into law, thus forever protecting this im
portant area of our country.

Thank you.

Senator Cn.kIG. Well, Congressman, thank you. Senator, thank
you for your commitment to this legislation. As I said in my open
ing comments, we will work with you to move this legislation. This
is not just a hearing to hear it. It is a hearing from which we can
begin to work to refine any of those differences we might have, and
I think they are limited but there are some questions that I had
asked early on. I know that you and your staff will be forthright
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in working with us to address them. So we thank you very much.
Appreciate it.

Now let me call our first panel, the Honorable David Tenny, Un
dersecretary, Natural Resources, U.S. Department of Agriculture,
and Robert McIntosh, Associate Regional Director of Planning and
Partnerships of the Northeast Region, the United States Depart
ment of the Interior, National Park Service.

Of course, gentlemen, I would expect that you would, obviously,
address your comments appropriately to the three different pieces
of legislation that are before us. David, good to see you again.
Thank you for being here. Please proceed.

STATEMENT OF DAVID TENNY, DEPUTY UNDERSECRETARY,
NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENT, DEPARTMENT
OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. TENNY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. At the outset here, I
would note that I am joined by Marcus Phelps, who is the High
lands Coordinator for the Forest Service’s Northeastern Area.
Marcus and I have an understanding. He is prepared to answer all
the hard questions. I am prepared to answer all the easy questions.

Senator CRAIG. Do you want him at the table?
Mr. TENNY. No, that is fine. I was just going to point out, Mr.

Chairman, that you will probably be the one to decide which are
the hard questions and which are the easy ones.

Senator CRAIG. We will go to work while you are testifying then.
All right.

[Laughter.]
Mr. TENNY. Mr. Chairman, in the interest of time, let me just

say in summary that we do not oppose any of these bills.
I have testified on the Highlands bill in the House and could

make just a few points about that.
First of all, this is an area where the Forest Service has done a

considerable amount of work in the past. There has been some
progress made. We are working cooperatively with the communities
and the interests in the region. We have done some study in New
York and New Jersey. We have work yet to do to be more precise
in what we are talking about in Connecticut and in Pennsylvania.
I think that has been pointed out. We are willing to work with the
committee and the others interests involved in working through
differences. We have some recommendations of our own that we
have submitted in the written statement that I have submitted for
the record. But we are prepared to go to work and are certainly in
terested in helping this process in anyway we can.

With respect to the other two pieces of legislation, listening close
ly to what Senator Campbell said about the legislation involving
the city of Golden, Colorado, we are prepared to help that process
move along because it is a very reasonable concept in this bill. We
are talking about an area that has been struck with severe
drought. We want to be as prepared as we can to be helpful as this
legislation moves forward and in the preparation that leads up to
the enactment of the bill.

And with respect to the bill that addresses a very important
issue in my home State and yours, let me say also, Mr. Chairman,
that we are very intent to making things work out there. We recog
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nize this piece of legislation as much as the policy in the legislation
is the message behind the legislation that we are hearing loud and
clear from the communities that surround the Nez Perce and the
Clearwater National Forests. We are prepared also to work with
the committee and work with you on this legislation and outside
of this legislation to get the job done out there on the ground.

So with that, Mr. Chairman, I will defer the balance of my time
and be prepared to answer any questions you might have.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Tenny follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DAVID TENNY, DEPUTY UNDERSECRETARY, NATURAL RE
sOURCES AND ENVIRONMENT, DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, ON HR. 1964, 5.
2180, AND S. 433

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today in order
to provide the Department’s views on H.R. 1964 The Highlands Conservation Act,
5. 2180 to direct the Secretary of Agriculture to exchange certain lands in the Arap
aho and Roosevelt National Forests in the State of Colorado and S. 433 The Clear-
water Basin Project Act. I am accompanied today by, Marcus Phelps, Highlands Co
ordinator of the Forest Service Northeastern Area.

HE. 1964 THE RIGHLANDS CONSERVATION ACT

H.R. 1964, the Highlands Conservation Act would authorize the Secretary of the
Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture to work with States, local units of govern
ment, and private landowners in the conservation of lands and natural resources in
the Highlands region of Connecticut, New York, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania.

The Department defers to the Department of the Interior for general views on the
bill but would like to offer several comments on section 6 of the bill as well as a
brief discussion regarding the Department’s previous and ongoing work within the
Highlands.

H.R. 1964 directs the Secretary of Agriculture, acting through the Chief of the
Forest Service and in consultation with the Chief of the Natural Resources Con
servation Service, to continue to assist the Highlands States, local units of govern
ment, and private forest and farm landowners in the conservation of lands and nat
ural resources in the Highlands region. H.R. 1964 would authorize appropriations
of $1,000,000 to the Secretary of the Agriculture for each of fiscal years 2005
through 2014 to carry out this section.

At the direction of Congress, in 1992, the USDA Forest Service completed the
New York-New Jersey Highlands Regional Study that characterized the water re
sources, wildlife habitat, outdoor recreation opportunities, and agricultural re
sources in the region. This study identified lands with important resource values
such as the Sterling Forest located near Tuxedo, NY.

At the direction of Congress, the Forest Service updated the New York-New Jer
sey Highlands Regional Study in 2002. The original study area was expanded from
the Hudson River eastward to the New York-Connecticut border. The Update identi
fies a number of many important natural resources in the Highlands, and the effect
of existing patterns of land use change on these resources. SoUle key findings from
the 2002 Update include:

• The Highlands adjoin a metropolitan area of more than 20 million people.
• More than 11 million people rely on the Highlands water resources.
• More than 14 million people visit the Highlands each year for recreational op

portunities.
• 5,200 acres per year of land was developed between 1995 and 2000.
• Almost 40 percent, 540,000 acres, are considered to have high conservation

value. Nearly half of these lands are currently in some type of permanent con
servation arrangement, such as an easement or under a nonprofit land trust
holding.

• Approximately 100,000 acres considered to have high conservation value have
a high likelihood of change.

• Forty-two of the 51 existing Hydrologic Unit Code 11 watersheds (which have
an average area of about 50 square miles) presently have 10 percent or less im
pervious surface cover (a significant indicator of water quality). Depending on
the rate of land use change, the number of Hydrologic Unit Code 11 watersheds
with less than 10 percent or less of impervious surface cover could fall from 42
to about 9 .to 18 in the next thirty years.



15

The future population in the New Jersey-New York Highlands could increase
by 26 to 48 percent in the next 30 years, based on our analysis.

In addition to updating the 1992 Study, Congress directed the Secretaries of Agri
culture and the Interior to jointly develop a set of recommendations identiing
ways that Federal government can work with State, local and non-profit partners
to address important resource issues, based on the findings of the 1992 Study and
2002 Update.

Our efforts to address these findings continue in the New York and New Jersey
portions of the Highlands region through a Forest Service staff position established
to coordinate and implement conservation strategies, and the ongoing support of an
internet mapping system at Rutgers University to provide direct access to study
data and maps. Also, a recent regional meeting held at the Lautenberg Visitor Cen
ter in what is now the Sterling Forest State Park in Tuxedo, New York, brought
together, for the first time, representatives of the various Federal agencies involved
with the Highlands region to share information and identify ways to improve inter
agency communication and coordination.

Over the past 10 years, the Forest Legacy program has protected 3444 acres with
$4,200,000 in Federal funds that has leveraged over $14,000,000 in non-federal
funds in New Jersey and New York. Over the last five years, the Forest Legacy pro
gram has provided $14,300,000 of funding that is expected to protect over 8,700
acres in the New Jersey Highlands and to leverage over $32 million of state and
private partner funds for land conservation. In addition, the Forest Service has pro
vided assistance to private landowners, nonprofits and State and local governments,
through a range of Forest Service non-regulatory, cooperative programs of more
than $1,000,000 toward land conservation activities in those two states. These in
clude technical and financial assistance to states and communities and landowner
assistance for management planning and implementation of conservation practices.

I want to bring to the Committee some issues that the Department has identified
with HR. 1964 that may require further consideration by the Committee.

First, the legislation covers a four-state region. The Department’s efforts to date
have concentrated on the 1.5 million acre New York-New Jersey portion of the re
gion, and have only generally characterized the resource values and boundaries of
the Pennsylvania and Connecticut portions of the Highlands. More thorough consid
eration and inventory of the resource values in Pennsylvania and Connecticut is
needed. In addition, , the committee may wish to consider adding language that
would direct the Secretaries to prepare a map to delineate the Highlands Conserva
tion Area and eliminate any uncertainty regarding the area within projects would
be eligible for assistance.

To our knowledge, the bill does not authorize any activity by the Forest Service
and the Department of Agriculture that is not already authorized under current
law. USDA could designate the Highlands area as a high priority within existing
authorities to permit its agencies to address resource issues in the Highlands region.
The bill’s targeting of technical assistance, financial assistance, and land conserva
tion projects could require USDA to determine the priority of these activities rel
ative to other high-priority programs or projects that may rely on the same funding
source.

S. 2180 ARAPAHO AND ROOSEVELT NATIONAL FORESTS LAND EXCHANGE ACT OF 2003

The Department does not object to 5. 2180 but would like to recommend some
changes to the bill for the Committee’s consideration.

5. 2180 directs the Secretary of Agriculture to exchange to the City of Golden,
Colorado all right, title and interest in 9.84 acres of Federal land within the Arap
aho National Forest, upon receipt of acceptable title to 135.9 acres of non-Federal
land. The 135.9 acres consist of two separate parcels, including 80 acres near Ever
green, Colorado known as Cub Creek and 55.9 acres near Argentine Pass, Colorado
known as Argentine Pass. The 55.9 acre Argentine Pass property is made of 15 pat
ented mining claims. The bill modifies the exterior boundary of the Arapaho Na
tional Forest to incorporate the Cub Creek parcel.

The bill requires the exchange values to be equalized. If the non-Federal parcel
market value exceeds the approved market value of the Federal land, the values
may be equalized by reducing the size of the Cub Creek non-Federal parcel or with
a cash equalization payment without regard to the cash equalization limitation of
43 U.S.C. 1716(b), as amended.

If the Federal land market value exceeds the market value of the Cub Creek non
Federal parcel, the values shall be equalized by the Secretary preparing a statement
of value for the Argentine Pass non-Federal parcel and utilizing as much of such
contributory value as is necessary as a credit to equalize value. Argentine Pass
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lands not needed to balance the exchange values will be donated to the Forest Serv
ice. In the event the Secretary declines to accept the Argentine Pass lands for any
reason, Golden shall make a cash equalization payment to the Secretary as nec
essary to equalize the values of the Federal land and the Cub Creek parcel. We rec
ommend that any cash equalization funds received be considered money received
and deposited pursuant to Public Law 90-171 (16 U.S.C. 484(a)), commonly known
as the “Sisk Act,” and may be used, without further appropriation, for the acquisi
tion of lands for addition to the National Forest System in the State of Colorado.

5. 2180 indicates Congress’ intent that the land exchange be consummated no
later than 120 days after enactment and authorizes the City of Golden to construct
a water pipeline on the 9.84 acres of Federal land immediately upon enactment and
prior to the consummation of the exchange. We are concerned that we may not be
able to complete environmental consultation and clearances required for the dis
posal of the federal property in 120 days. We request extending this timeframe to
180 days. While we are appreciative of the inclusion of the timing and interim au
thorization clause as described in the bill, we do not support construction occurring
prior to conveyance of this property to the City of Golden. At the very least, we
would expect that the City would he required to operate under a special use permit
as long as the property remains in Federal ownership. Our preference is to delay
construction of the pipeline until the conveyance is completed.

5. 2180 directs the City of Golden to pay for any necessary land surveys and ap
praisals. Further, the bill authorizes and directs the Secretary to sell the Federal
land to Golden at its appraised value, if the land exchange cannot be consummated
for any reason.

Public interest could also be served by the Arapaho National Forest acquisition
of the 135.9 acres of non-Federal land. Specifically, the acquisition would eliminate
a forest inholding, and could: reduce cost of forest boundary administration, increase
recreation opportunities, and ensure permanent public access to a portion of the
Continental Divide National Scenic Trail. The Department supports the concept of
the exchange identified in 5. 2180 and would like to work with the Committee to
see this exchange proceed with mutual benefit.

S. 2180 highlights how detailed legislation is often required to conduct land ex
changes. The FY 2005 Budget includes a proposal to amend the Small Tracts Act,
the Sisk Act, and the Townsite Act, which would provide the Secretary the authority
to sell or exchange land, to promote more efficient real estate management of Na
tional Forest System lands and facilities. The Budget also includes a proposal for
a Facilities Acquisition and Enhancement Fund that wouid enable the Secretary to
sell facilities and appurtenant administrative land, excess to agency needs, and to
use the proceeds for acquiring or developing land and improvements for administra
tive purposes. The Department will submit proposed legislation concerning these
proposals in the upcoming weeks.

S. 433 THE CLEARwATER BASIN PEOJECT ACT

5. 433 would establish a pilot program and the Clearwater Advisory Panel (CAP),
for the purpose of improving collaborative relationships and providing advice and
recommendations to the Forest Service regarding a pilot project and activities under
the pilot project on National Forest System lands in the Clearwater and Nez Perce
National Forest in Idaho.

Under 5. 433, the CAP and the Forest Service, working collaboratively with the
Nez Perce Tribe and other interested parties, would identify and complete high pri
ority activities to improve ecosystem health for fish, wildlife, and other community
values that complement existing management of the Clearwater and Nez Perce Na
tional Forest.

Based upon experience with collaborative management and stewardship projects,
the Department believes this legislation generally reflects objectives and provisions
currently authorized in the Consolidated Appropriations Resolution, 2003, amending
Public Law 105-277, section 347. We are not opposed to the measure, but it may
add additional costs that could in turn reduce the amount of on-the-ground resource
management that could be accomplished. We would like to work with the committee
to make necessary improvements to the bill.

Section 3 Establishment and Purpose subpart (d) Composition and Advisory Panel
states that the advisory panel shall be comprised of 15 members who shall be rep
resentative of the interests of three categories of individuals. While we agree with
this purpose, the bill is unclear as how the Advisory panel would proceed in the
event that all fifteen positions could not be filled. In addition, it would appear that
the North Central Idaho Resource
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Advisory Committee may provide the necessary forum to achieve the purpose of
establishing collaborative relationships and identiing stewardship projects for the
pilot project area.

Section 4 Clear-water Basin Pilot Project subpart (c) Stewardship Contracts iden
tifies a total of three stewardship contracts authorized for recommendations by the
advisory panel. The bill is unclear as to whether the identified stewardship con
tracts are for the entire life of the pilot project or for the first five year period.

5. 433 would require the Forest Service to conduct and complete any applicable
procedures under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and any review,
consultation, or coordination under other laws within one year. Non-compliance
within the required one-year period would not be a basis for challenging or delaying
submittal, approval, or implementation of an activity, if the applicable Forest Super
visor, in consultation with CAP, finds that sufficient review, consultation and coordi
nation has occurred and a sufficient record exists to make a reasoned decision re
garding approval of the activity.

While setting a required one-year time period for completion of the above men
tioned analysis and decision making may be appropriate for routine proposals
brought forward by the CAP, it may not be sufficient for other high priority, com
plex and broader scale ecosystem health actions the CAP would propose for analysis.
In addition, it would be highly unlikely there would be a sufficient record (NEPA
analysis, Biological Opinions and Consultations to comply with other applicable en
vironmental laws) available to make a reasoned decision in the event the one-year
time period elapsed and insure a defensible decision while being subject to the rig
ors of the agency’s appeal and dispute resolution processes in accordance with 36
CFR 215.

Under subsection (g) Review by Forest Supervisor the bill states—if the Forest
Supervisor does not issue a decision within a 30-day period, the schedule would be
deemed approved and subject to the agency’s appeal and dispute resolution process.
If there is no NEPA decision document issued, it is unclear as to what would be
subject to agency appeal. Environmental analysis is not complete unless a decision
document has been signed by an authorized official and thus would not be in compli
ance with NEPA or subject to agency appeals and dispute resolution processes in
accordance with 36 CFR 215.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. I would be happy to answer any
questions you may have for me at this time.

Senator CI&IG. David, thank you very much. I will have a couple
of questions, but before that, let me turn to Director McIntosh for
his testimony, if you would please, sir.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT W. McINTOSH, ASSOCIATE REGIONAL
DIRECTOR FOR PLANNING AND PARTNERSHIPS, NORTH
EAST REGION, NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

Mr. MCINTOSH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am here to testify
on H.R. 1964 and not the other bills in front of the committee at
this time. Thank you for this opportunity.

The first section of my testimony I do not need to restate. It rec
ognizes the Forest Service’s studies, and the previous testimony
with respect to the importance of these resources. The Department
certainly understands and respects the importance of these re
sources and the need to assist in their protection.

The Department of the Interior looks forward to a continuing,
productive relationship with the Department of Agriculture, the
four States, local governments, and many present and new part
ners in the Highlands region to strive to protect these resources.

We do believe, however, that the goal of the bill can best be
achieved through existing public and private partnerships between
the Federal Government, State and local jurisdictions, and the pri
vate sector without earmarking funds from the Land and Water
Conservation Fund.

In June 2003, the Department of the Interior testified before the
House subcommittee. During that testimony, the Department mdi-



18

cated that it would defer to the position of the USDA who was the
lead agency as introduced. We also cited concerns about cost and
identified a number of existing programs that could meet the needs
in the Highlands region.

During markup, H.R. 1964 was amended, including designating
the Department of the Interior rather than USDA as the lead agen
cy relative to the land acquisition grants program.

For these and other reasons discussed, the Department does not
support the bill and we would defer to USDA regarding provisions
of the bill that affect the Forest Service.

As we mentioned in our previous testimony, we see many oppor
tunities for participation in the Highlands region through existing
programs of the Department of the Interior. Many projects within
the region may qualify for rivers and trails conservation assistance,
wild and scenic rivers assistance, monies from the Land and Water
Conservation Fund, and assistance from the existing national park
system units within the area.

H.R. 1964 would authorize appropriations of $100 million from
the Land and Water Conservation Fund or from the general fund
of the Treasury over a 10-year period beginning in 2005. We be
lieve that the financial assistance to the region should continue
through the existing authorities of the Department. For example,
the Department has made Land and Water Conservation Fund
grants available to the four States, totaling over $46 million be
tween 2000 and 2003. Through the land and water program, var
ious communities throughout the region have received grants for
various purposes.

We have consistently opposed earmarking the State grants pro
gram of the Land and Water Conservation Fund because it cir
cumvents State authority for determining its own priorities for the
use of fund moneys through the Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor
Recreation Plan. It potentially affects the amount available to other
States that rely on this program. Significant protection can be ac
complished through grants to the States as they choose to prioritize
acquisitions and projects in the Highlands region under the current
provisions of section 6 of the land and water program. We also
would have concerns if the funds for this bill came from the general
Treasury and were appropriated through Interior, as we are trying
to focus our resources on taking care of current responsibilities in
our national parks.

This concludes my testimony. Should the bill move forward, we
would be pleased to work with the committee, the Congressman
and yourself, Mr. Chairman, in various technical refinements, and
I would be pleased to answer any questions. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. McIntosh follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ROBERT W. MCINTOSH, ASSOCIATE REGIONAL DIRECTOR
FOR PLANNING AND PARTNERSHTPS, NORTHEAST REGION, NATIONAL PARK SERvICE,
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, ON H.R. 1964

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to present the views of the Depart
ment of the Interior on HR. 1964. a bill to assist the States of Connecticut, New
Jersey, New York and Pennsylvania in conserving priority lands and natural re
sources in the Highlands Region, and for other purposes.

The Highlands Region, comprising more than 2 million acres in one of the most
urbanized sections of the country, contains numerous natural and cultural resources
worthy of protection. It is a water supply source for over 11,000,000 persons, pro-
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vides critical habitat to a wide variety of plant and animal species, and is the site
of many historic events that have shaped our nation including significant actions
related to the American Revolution. It is also an area rapidly experiencing the im
pacts of urbanization.

The Highlands Region also contains units of the National Park System including
Morristown National Historical Park, Hopewell Furnace National Historic Site, and
the Delaware Water Gap National Recreation Area; designated Wild and Scenic Riv
ers including the Upper Delaware and Farmington Rivers; and two designated na
tional heritage areas—The Hudson River Valley National Heritage Area and the
Delaware and Lehigh National Heritage Corridor. The National Park Service has
enjoyed long-standing partnerships with the States and many of the governments
and organizations in this region.

The Department of the Interior (Department) looks forward to continuing this pro
ductive relationship with the U.S. Department of Agriculture, the four states, local
governments, and many present and new partners in the Highlands Region as we,
together, strive to protect natural, historic, and cultural resources. We believe, how
ever, that the goals of the bill can be best achieved through existing public and pri
vate partnerships between the Federal government, the States, local jurisdictions
and the private sector, without earmarking funds from the Land and Water Con
servation Fund (LWCF) Act.

On June 17, 2003, the Department testified before the House Subcommittee on
National Parks, Recreation, and Public Lands on H.R. 1964. During that testimony,
the Department indicated that it would defer to the position of the USDA, who was
the lead agency in H.R. 1964, as introduced. We also cited concerns about cost and
identified a number of existing programs that could meet the needs of the Highlands
Region. During markup, H.R. 1964 was amended in several ways, including desig
nating the Department rather than the USDA as the lead agency. For these and
other reasons discussed below, the Department does not support this bill. We con
tinue to defer to the USDA regarding provisions of the bill affecting the Forest Serv
ice.

The Highlands Region has been the subject of many past studies described in the
bill that document its important natural and cultural resources. In 1992, the Forest
Service completed its initial study of a portion of the Highlands Region as deacrihed
in the bill, which was authorized by the 1990 Farm Bill. The study supported land
stewardship and watershed-based planning activities, identified voluntary and non-
regulatory means to protect important areas, fostered public awareness of the re
gion’s resources, and identified priority areas for protection. In 2000, under Rep
resentative Frelinghuysen’s leadership, Congress recognized the need to revisit the
atudy’s findings and authorized an update in Public Law 106-291. The Forest Serv
ice completed the update in 2003 with the National Park Service providing com
ments on the draft report. The draft report is the product of extensive public partici
pation across the Highlands Region, including involvement by members of the work
ing group from over 120 municipalities, non-profit groups, private groups, and citi
zens in 12 Counties as well as other Federal agencies and members of Congress.

Congress requested that at the conclusion of the update, the Secretaries of Agri
culture and Interior report on how they will work together to implement the rec
ommendations of the study. In the draft report, three recommendations are provided
for a continued Federal role in the Highlands Region including supporting the stew
ardship of the Highlands Region, ensuring the availability of science-based informa
tion, and partnering in local land stewardship activities. This report is currently
pending interagency review.

As we mentioned in our previous testimony, we see many opportunities for par
ticipation in the Highlands Region through existing programs of the Department.
Projects within the region may qualify for Rivers, Trails and Conservation Assist
ance and Wild and Scenic Rivers assistance, and the LWCF, among others. Through
our Rivers, Trails and Conservation Assistance Program, we are working with local
groups along the Delaware and Hudson Canal to create a 220-mile network of trails
(including water trails), scenic railroads, and scenic byways.

H.R. 1964 would authorize appropriations of $100 million from the LWCF, or from
the general funds of the Treasury, over 10 years beginning in FY 2005. We believe
that Financial assistance to the region should continue through existing authorities
of the Department. For example, the Department has made LWCF grants available
to the four States totaling over $46.6 million between 2000 and 2003. Through the
LWCF program, Rockaway Township in the Highlands Region in the State of New
Jersey recently acquired 294 acres of land adjacent to the Wildcat Ridge Wildlife
Management Area for trails, low impact recreation, and to protect open space inhab
ited by endangered species including the threatened Bald Eagle.
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We have consistently opposed eannarking the state grant portion of LWCF be
cause it circumvents state authority for determining its own priorities for use of
fund monies through the comprehensive statewide outdoor recreation planning proc
ess. It potentially affects the amounts available to the other states that rely on this
program. Significant protection can be accomplished through grants to the states as
they choose to prioritize acquisitions and projects in the Highlands Region under the
current provisions of Section 6 of the LWCF Act.We also would have concerns if the
funds for this bill came from the general funds of the Treasury because we are try
ing to focus our resources on taking care of our current responsibilities in our na
tional parks.

This concludes my testimony. I would be pleased to answer any questions the
Committee may have this bill.

Senator CRAIG. Thank you very much, Director McIntosh.
Several questions of both of you. David, I understand that the

Federal contribution—and I think Director McIntosh just referred
to it—in H.R. 1964 for the land acquisition is the Land and Water
Conservation Fund and that would be a 50 percent share for each
acquisition. Is that how you read it?

Mr. TENNY. That is correct.
Senator CRAIG. If I remember correctly, Land and Water Con

servation moneys that flow through to the trust fund are generated
by receipts for Outer Continental Shelf and gas and oil drilling. Is
that not correct? Offshore?

Mr. TENNY. Yes, that is correct.
Senator CRAIG. Outside of State.
Mr. TENNY. Yes. There are a number of different sources, but the

predominant source, as I understand it, is the Outer Continental
Shelf.

Senator CRAIG. I also remember all of the appropriations riders
correctly that we have put on gas and oil drffling moratoriums, in
effect, exempt the entire Atlantic seaboard. Is that not correct?

Mr. TENNY. From my memory, yes, that is correct.
Senator CIISIG. I think the Senator and the Congressman know

where I am coming from. I am always frustrated by States who will
disallow drilling off their shore, but want large portions of the
Land and Water Conservation moneys to enhance their internal
properties. It is a Federal resource. I know that and I know that
it is distributed amongst the States, Director McIntosh, as you
have spoken to it in part. But I wanted for the record to at least
express this chairman’s frustration that sometimes those that will
disallow still ask a great deal from those who allow. If I had my
way about it—of course, my people in Idaho would be very frus
trated, but I would say to Alaskans and to those folks in Louisiana,
you are the ones that allow the drilling, you ought to get the great
er return. But, of course, we all benefit because those are national
resources.

Dave, in your reading of the bill, who is responsible for choosing
the high priority projects to be proposed to the Secretary? I men
tioned that in my opening comments. In essence, is it the Gov
ernors of the States or is it the Forest Service?

Mr. TENNY. Mr. Chairman, as I read the bill, it appears as
though the Governors of the States make recommendations. The
Secretary of the Interior is responsible for selecting the projects
after consulting with the Secretary of Agriculture. I believe that is
how it works in my reading of the bill. Although I would note that
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it is not absolutely precise on that point, that is how we would read
it.

Senator CRAIG. So those are merely recommendations of selec
tions to be made coming from the Governors. Is that correct?

Mr. TENNY. Yes, that is correct as we read it.
Senator CRAIG. The Congressman is the real authority here. Am

I reading that correctly, Congressman? Why do both of you not
come back to the table, if you wish? Is that a correct assumption
as how we acquire or how the selected parcels are chosen?

Senator CORZINE. Would the chairman repeat?
Senator CRAIG. Yes, okay. What I am, in essence, saying here, as

it relates to selection, is it is the Governors of the States or the
Forest Service that ultimately make the decisions on the lands se
lected? Mr. Tenny has suggested that it is the Governors that make
the recommendations. The Secretary makes the choices with rec
ommendations from or consultation with the Forest Service.

Mr. FRELINGHUYSEN. My read on it is that the Governors obvi
ously play a critical role in terms of those areas that are most
under the gun with development, but I can tell you my office works
very closely with organizations like the Trust for Public Lands. So
there is a very successful collaboration, at least in the State of New
Jersey, in terms of public and private partnerships determining
what pieces of property are most endangered. Because our land
prices are so expensive, there is not much we can do in terms of
large swaths of land, but it is generally a partnership between the
private sector and the public sector.

Senator CRAIG. But the list of proposed lands comes from the
Forest Service. Is that correct?

Mr. FREUNGHUYSEN. Inasmuch as they have designated through
their studies those that are particularly in jeopardy because of—

Senator CRAIG. And the Governors of the individual States or col
lective States add to or make recommendations beyond that list?

Senator CORZINE. Mr. Chairman, the way I read the specific law
is annually the Governors of the Highlands States, with input from
pertinent units of local government and the public—and there are
commissions certainly in New Jersey that work with the Gov
ernor—identify land conservation partnership projects in the High
lands region that shall be proposed for Federal financial assistance
and submitted, as a list of those projects, to the Secretary of the
Interior.

Mr. FRELINGHUYSEN. Defined in section 5.
Senator CRAIG. Yes, I am looking at that section now. All right.
David, I see by your testimony last year on H.R. 1964 before the

House Resources Committee, you had a number of concerns, and I
know that a number of amendments—and the Congressman has
talked about the way he and the chairman worked—were made to
the House bill. Did those amendments address your concerns and
the concerns of the Department in large part?

Mr. TEI’n’w. To a point, yes. There are still some concerns that
we have identified in our testimony that we have submitted today.
And I would say that probably the most important is the precision
of the designation of the area. We have done a lot of work over the
last 13 years in the New York-New Jersey area. We have done
much less work—in fact, we are more or less at the beginning—
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with respect to the areas in Connecticut and in Pennsylvania. We
know much less about those areas and probably ought to do a lot
more work there in order to be able to identify the same types of
high-value areas in Connecticut and Pennsylvania that we have
been able to identify in New York and New Jersey.

Senator CRAIG. I have got, obviously, these brochures in front of
me that speak to proposed suggested lands and boundaries and
areas of concern. I wonder if you can give—and I am speaking to
any of you—a better understanding of the total area in which the
Highlands project would be located. From the bill, I know it is larg
er than about 2 million acres. I also know it is within the Reading
prong and other similar ecological upland areas. But can you help
clarify not only the length of the Highlands area but also how wide
this area might be in total? Is there a way to do that?

I guess I am always frustrated by the endless process, if you will,
and we are trying to define it here to put some limitation on it or
boundaries on it and, at the same time, recognize the areas that
are most sensitive.

Congressman.
Mr. FRELINGHUYSEN. We referred to it. The U.S. Forest Service

did publish an update to the New York-New Jersey Highlands re
gional study. That study adopted the Highlands study area bound
aries from the original 1992 study, and they expanded them east
ward from the Hudson River to New York to the Connecticut bor
der using topography and geography, as key detenninants. The
Forest Service study goes on to say—and I quote—”The boundaries
of the study could be revised again in the fhture,” and suggest “im
plementation could also be extended to ecologically similar areas in
Pennsylvania and Connecticut.” To some extent, we incorporated in
our legislation the larger area that they sort of designated that was
very similar in geographic nature.

Senator CRAIG. Well, Congressman, Senator, we will work with
you to see if there is not a way to define boundaries in a little
clearer way. I think when we deal with systems, if you will, or
types of geography, it is open-ended. This thing could stretch on
down the Appalachia a considerable ways, and I think that we are
all concerned about that. While I do not argue the sensitivity of
areas involved, I do believe it is incumbent upon all of us to try
to put some definition to it. I will see if I cannot tackle that a little
bit, but it will be done in full cooperation with all of you.

Mr. FRELINGHUYSEN. We would be pleased to work with you in
better defining those boundaries. Thank you very much.

Senator CRMG. Thank you.
Let me switch to 5. 433, Dave, and that deals with, as I have

mentioned and as you have appropriately mentioned, the central
Idaho area.

A year ago, concern in this area was so great that the forests pri
marily in the Nez Perce were dead and dying in many instances
in the Red River basin and others in and around Elk City that ac
tivity had to occur of some kind not only to reinstate the health of
the forests, but to try to improve the historic partnership relation
ship with the communities involved. A rather extensive meeting
was held in Grangeville. Secretary Rey attended as did many oth
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ers. It was extremely well attended by officials of the Forest Serv
ice. That was a year ago approximately.

The good news is the meeting was well attended. The good news
is a great many promises were made. The bad news is nothing has
happened.

The Red River basin is now, for all intents and purposes, dead.
I talked with a variety of interests there over the weekend. I was
in that area. They would suggest that none of the timber left is of
any value for logging purposes. There might be some post or pole
or logs that could be utilized in a salvage way for log home build
ing.

I find it ironic that this large stretch of critical watershed is ap
proximately the same climax forest area where the great forest
fires of 1910 were started that swept out across north Idaho into
Montana and back across Idaho, when millions of acres burned,
many people were killed, and communities were wiped out. It is
strange that the perfect storm started not far from what we are
dealing with today.

I must tell you that all of the communities of interest are ex
tremely frustrated at this moment. You are in part correct. Those
who came together to propose to us legislation embodied in S. 433
came out of absolute frustration, dead and dying communities and
dead and dying forests all around them, and a Forest Service that
is unable to move or unwilling to move. I have not quite deter
mined which it is.

But I have determined that if the perfect storm starts, meaning
firestorm, that all of those watersheds could be wiped out. The dev
astation to wildlife habitat and water quality in the upper reaches
of the Clearwater, a major contributor to the Snake, an extremely
valuable water resource and fish habitat, could be badly damaged,
let alone communities like Elk City—and we will hear from a per
son from Elk City today—entirely wiped out.

And yet, the Forest Service cannot move. So if you cannot move,
we will move you, as is happening all over the United States today
and as the Congress finally did last year with the Healthy Forest
bill. We are tired of watching millions of acres go up in smoke, all
in the name of whatever, I guess the beauty of a wildfire or the
destruction of it.

So you are in part correct that the legislation is going to get a
hearing and a voice because of that. But you are also correct in
that action could replace this but inaction will not and action has
not occurred. I do not know that you wish to comment any more
about it, but you are certainly welcome to if you wish.

Mr. TEI’mv. Mr. Chairman, I would like to comment on this. One
thing I noted, when I have looked into this myself in preparation
for the hearing, that was a very good thing, was that the commit
ments of the forests were posted on their web site, had a link to
your web site so that it could be completely transparent what was
committed to. I have to be honest in saying that I was disappointed
in seeing what had resulted from those commitments.

I have had conversations with Gail Kimball, who is the new re
gional forester in region one, who I would note has played a pivotal
role in the development of the tools both administrative and in the
technical side of development of the legislation from the Depart-
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ment’s side of that effort. They are all part of the Healthy Forest
initiative and the Healthy Forests Restoration Act. She is very fa
miliar with the tools and what needs to be done. She is very pas
sionate.

She has taken a few steps that I think you should be aware of.
First of all, on the Nez Perce, the Nez Perce now has a deputy for
est supervisor who is going to be helpful in that effort in the man
agement of that forest. She is going to be meeting with the forest
supervisor there next week and then going out to the forest the fol
lowing week. And her focus is going to be pretty straightforward.
It is going to be on how well the agency is using the tools that have
been provided, both the administrative tools and now the legisla
tive tools. She will be very, I think, adept at being able to train
and identify the opportunities, especially in the stewardship con
tracting area and in the use of the expedited NEPA authorities,
and I think she will, in my mind, make a difference there.

I do not want to leave you, Mr. Chairman, or anyone else with
the impression that the agency is not doing anything out there be
cause I think they are trying to do some things. I do not think it
is moving it forward quickly enough. There are some limited suc
cesses, but they are limited. Given the nature of the problem, given
the potential for the devastation that might occur, as you noted, in
this area that has historically had some of the worst wildfires in
the Nation’s history, time is really not on our side. So I was very
heartened when Gail told me that one of her first priorities and top
priorities coming into the job was to look into this particular mat
ter and play a personal role in it.

Senator CRAIG. Well, Dave, thank you for those comments and
observations. I hope you judge by my comments that we are more
than anxious to work with you and our new regional forester to re
solve this issue. We are certainly willing to give all parties time.
I know we asked for a deputy at the Grangeville meeting. I am
glad to hear that we are getting that.

I do believe the resource demands some expedited process. Moth
er Nature will take care of it if we do not help her go in another
direction. And I think we have all seen what Mother Nature has
been doing the last several years in these wildfire scenarios. And
we are sitting ripe for one at this moment in that environment.
The bad news of 1910 was obviously tragic and a lot was destroyed,
habitat, wildlife, and communities. This area is now even more
populated today with people than it was back then by a consider
able amount, and I think it would be terribly tragic, now that we
have all built the record and seen the problem, if we were a year
from now frustrated by the smoke in our eyes and the communities
wiped out because we failed to act. So I thank you very, very much
for that.

On 5. 1280, we are talking about 140 feet and 2 years and bu
reaucratic impossible ways of moving. I understand we are going
to get it done now. I have a marvelous picture here of two stakes
drawn along a road that are very visible that show the length of
distance we are talking about that take all of the Congress’ and the
House’s time because the Forest Service, by its current law, cannot
act to allow a right-of-way for this purpose. I guess enough is said
there, but we will expedite this as quickly as we can.
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It is beyond me to think that the Forest Service or any Federal
land management agency is not capable, within current law and
process, of resolving an issue of a 140-foot right-of-way without
having to go through all kinds of land exchanges and surveys and
boundary adjustments and assessments to determine values and
the phenomenal complication.

Let me ask just this of you. I would like to know how much in
the end, when it is all done and the dust clears and the land is
exchanged—I want you to draw a line and total up the cost and
come back and tell this committee how much it will cost for our
Federal Government to work with a local government to establish
a 140-foot right-of-way for a pipeline. Would you do that?

Mr. PENNY. I think that is a fair request, Mr. Chairman.
Senator CRAIG. I think it would be appropriate for the record.

And I think it would be very frustrating to all of us who stagger
around here trying to find the necessary moneys to fund our public
land agencies so that they can go out and protect, defend, and man
age the resource appropriately. Thank you.

David, thank you. Director McIntosh, thank you very much. We
will work on all of these projects jointly with you and we will ap
preciate your advice and counsel in them as we work to finalize
them. Thank you.

Now we will call our second panel forward: Thomas Gilbert, exec
utive director, The Highlands Coalition, Titusville, New Jersey; Dr.
Bonner Cohen, senior fellow, National Center for Public Policy Re
search, Warrenton, Virginia; Susie Borowicz, Elk City, Idaho; and
Rick Johnson, executive director of the Idaho Conservation League
in Boise.

A little instruction on the use of the mikes for all of you but also
for our court reporter to hear and for the rest of the folks in the
room to hear: pull those mikes as close as is comfortable. Make
sure the little button on the face of the stand there is lighted and
proceed. Mr. Gilbert, we will proceed with you, executive director,
The Highlands Coalition, Titusville, New Jersey. Welcome to the
committee.

STATEMENT OF THOMAS A. GILBERT, EXECUT1VE DIRECTOR
OF THE HIGHLANDS COALITION, TITUSVILLE, NJ

Mr. GILBERT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I very much appreciate
the opportunity to testi& in support of H.R. 1964, The Highlands
Conservation Act.

The Highlands Coalition is an alliance of over 100 organizations
whose mission is to protect and enhance the sustainability of nat
ural and human communities in the Highlands region of Pennsyl
vania, New Jersey, New York, and Connecticut.

Rather than reiterate all of the important resource values of the
Highlands region that were very eloquently described by the bill
sponsors, let me focus on how in our view The Highlands Conserva
tion Act responds to the challenges identified by the Forest Service
by authorizing Federal matching fhnds to assist the Highlands
States in conserving priority lands identified in the Forest Service
studies and by authorizing financial and technical assistance to pri
vate landowners in the region.
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This legislation was developed with significant input from di
verse interests, including representatives of national and state
homebuilders associations and the local Farm Bureau. It has broad
and bipartisan support at all levels of government. In fact, I am au
thorized by Governor Pataki of New York to let you know how im
portant the passage of this act is to the State of New York. The
New York State Environmental Commissioner had wanted to tes
tify in person here today but has submitted written testimony in
stead.

I also have with me over 50 resolutions from local governments
throughout the Highlands region in support of this legislation.

Senator CRUG. Tom, are you leaving those with us for the record
or for the file?

Mr. GILBERT. If I can, I would be happy to.
Senator C1t’UG. Certainly. Thank you. We appreciate that.
Mr. GILBERT. The Highlands Conservation Act is modeled after

the State and Federal partnership that was used to conserve Ster
ling Forest, a crown jewel of the New York Highlands. In 1996,
Congress authorized $17.5 million from the Federal side of the
Land and Water Conservation Fund, not the State side. That was
matched by State and private funds totaling over $55 million for
the purchase of more than 15,000 acres that are now part of Ster
ling Forest State Park in New York. H.R. 1964 would facilitate
similar State and Federal partnerships to conserve other high pri
ority lands in the Highlands region. Since these lands would be
owned and managed by the States, there would be no increase in
Federal landholdings or management responsibilities.

The Forest Service has recognized the Highlands region as ex
tending into Pennsylvania and Connecticut in their excellent stud
ies of the New York-New Jersey portion of the region and we would
concur with Mr. Tenny that in order for the entire Highlands re
gion to be eligible for the Federal assistance provided under this
act, that the Forest Service would need to extend these studies to
include Pennsylvania and Connecticut.

I would mention that Forest Service staff have met with State
and local officials in both States to begin fleshing out what the
boundaries might look like for a possible study expansion and per
haps those discussions and those draft maps could be a good start
ing point to address the very legitimate concern that you have
raised about the boundaries of the region.

I would also like to point out that the act would confer no regu
latory authority to any level of government and funds could only
be used to acquire lands or development rights from willing sellers.
I would refer you to the extensive language in section 7 describing
the respect for private property rights, the lack of regulatory effect,
which explains the glowing words of support from Chairman
Pombo for the legislation, as well as his praise for Mr. Freling
huysen and Mr. Sexton for their work with him in the committee
on the bill.

Finally, I would add that having the Federal Government part
ner with the Highlands States to conserve vital watershed lands is
a necessary and wise investment in our future, and it makes good
economic sense. The North Jersey District Water Supply Commis
sion estimates that water purveyors in the Highlands currently
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spend $14.3 million annually to treat 550 million gallons of water
per day. They further estimate that if development trends continue
in the Highlands, the costs of treating this water could reach over
$30 billion by 2054.

So in conclusion, I urge you to support this bipartisan legislation
to help safeguard the water supply for millions of Americans
through an innovative State and Federal partnership that strongly
respects private property rights. I appreciate the time and we look
forward to working with you to help advance this important legisla
tion. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Gilbert follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THOMAS A. GILBERT, ExEcuTIvE DIRECTOR OF THE
HIGHIn’rns COARITION, ON HR. 1964

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to testify in support of HR. 1964,
the Highlands Conservation Act. The Highlands Coalition is an alliance of over 100
organizations whose mission is to protect and enhance the sustainability of natural
and human communities in the Highlands region of PA, NJ, NY, and CT. The High
lands region is defined by the easternmost ridge of the Appalachian Chain that
serves as the backyard to several major metropolitan areas, including Philadelphia,
New York City and Hartford. The region lies within an hour of some 25 million
Americans and provides and protects the water supply for over 15 million people.
The Highlands receives more recreational visitors each year than many of our most
heavily visited national treasures.

For all of these reasons, the Highlands region has been recognized as nationally
significant by the U.S. Forest Service in several studies. In their most recent study,
the Forest Service documented the development of over 25,000 acres of land in the
NY-NJ Highlands between 1995 and 2000, and estimated that build-out could be
reached within 20 to 30 years. If those trends continue, they predict significant im
pacts on future water quality and supplies. They identify approximately 300,000
acres of high-value watershed lands that need further protection.

The Highlands Conservation Act responds to the challenges identified by the For
est Service hy authorizing federal matching funds to assist the Highlands States in
conserving priority lands identified in the Forest Service studies, and authorizing
financial and technical assistance to private landowners in the region. This legisla
tion was developed with significant input from diverse interests, including rep
resentatives of national and state homehuilders associations, and the local Farm Bu
reau. It has broad and bipartisan support at all levels of government. In fact, I am
authorized by Governor Pataki of New York to let you know how important the pas
sage of this Act is to the State of New York. The New York State Environmental
Commissioner had wanted to testify in person here today, but has submitted written
testimony instead. I also have with me over 50 resolutions from local governments
in the region in support of this legislation.

The Highlands Conservation Act is modeled after the state and federal partner
ship that was used to conserve Sterling Forest, a crown jewel of the NY Highlands.
In 1996, Congress authorized 517.5 million from the federal Land & Water Con
servation Fund to match state and private funds totaling over $55 million for the
purchase of more than 15,000 acres that are now part of Sterling Forest State Park.
H.R. 1964 would facilitate similar partnerships to conserve other high priority lands
in the Highlands region. Since these lands would be owned and managed by the
states, there would be no increase in federal land holdings or management respon
sibilities.

The Forest Service has recognized the Highlands region as extending into Penn
sylvania and Connecticut in their excellent studies of the NY-NJ portion of the re
gion. In order for the entire Highlands region to be eligible for the federal assistance
provided under this Act, the Forest Service would need to extend these studies to
include PA and CT.

The Act would confer no regulatory authority to any level of government, and
funds could only be used to acquire lands or development rights from willing sellers.
Prior to House passage of the bill, Congressman Richard Pombo, Chairman of the
House Resources Committee and an ardent supporter of private-property rights,
hailed the Highlands Conservation Act as a template for advancing land conserva
tion in a bipartisan fashion while respecting private-property rights. Mr. Pombo also
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applauded Rep. Rodney Frelinghuysen, the bill’s sponsor, for his work with Re
sources Committee members and staff to craft a balanced, reasonable bill.

Finally, I would add that having the Federal Government partner with the High
lands States to conserve vital watershed lands in the Highlands is a necessary and
wise investment in our future, and makes good economic sense. The North Jersey
District Water Supply Commission estimates that the Highlands water purveyors
currently spend an estimated $14.3 million annually to treat 550 million gallons of
water per day. The Commission estimates that if development trends in the High
lands continue, treatment costs will reach over $30 billion annually by 2054.

I urge you to support this bipartisan legislation to help safeguard the water sup
ply for millions of Americans through an innovative state and federal partnership
that strongly respects private-property rights.

Thank you.

Senator CRAIG. Mr. Gilbert, thank you very much.
Now let me turn to Dr. Bonner Cohen, senior fellow, National

Center for Public Policy Research in Warrenton, Virginia. Doctor,
welcome before the committee.

STATEMENT OF BONNER R. COHEN, Ph.D., SENIOR FELLOW,
NATIONAL CENTER FOR PUBLIC POLICY RESEARCH

Dr. COHEN. Well, thank you very much, Chairman Craig, for the
opportunity to comment on this bill this afternoon.

It has fallen to me to be the voice of dissent on The Highlands
Conservation Act, and let me briefly outline the problems I have
with the legislation, which are both philosophical and practical.

At a philosophical level, I am somewhat disturbed, to say the
least, by kind of the underlying principle of the legislation that
would seem to equate government ownership of land with sound
environmental conservation. I believe that the record will show
that you will find nowhere in the United States forests which are
more disastrously managed than our own national forests, disease-
ridden and overgrown that they are. The chairman addressed this
problem earlier in the committee and it is an absolute tragedy. It
is a problem that has been ongoing for several decades and under
the best of circumstances, it is going to take decades to undo all
the damage that has been done.

What I mean by this is that this should serve as a cautionary
tale for those who see in government ownership of land something
that will lead to sound conservation. That takes us into now The
Highlands Conservation Act which foresees $10 million a year in
the purchase of lands. $10 million a year in the grand scheme of
things is not a lot of money. $100 million over a 10-year period.
Nevertheless, I think this is a step in the wrong direction.

What I am truly concerned about, aside from the principle of gov
ernment ownership of land—the government already in this coun
try owns approximately 40 percent of that land, but I am very con
cerned about the protections for private landowners.

I was pleased to hear Senator Corzine say and Mr. Gilbert also
say that the bill contains protections for private landowners. How
ever, I do not think any of us should be under the illusions about
the amount of pressure that can be brought to bear on a private,
isolated landowner in a predominantly rural area by State environ
mental regulators working closely with nongovernmental organiza
tions. There is something in the conservation debate known as the
myth of the willing seller. And if a landowner is not in agreement
with the policies being carried out in the name of conservation in
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a particular area, things can be done to that landowner to make
his life miserable. We have seen this over and over again. I am cer
tain the chairman is familiar with the problems of inholders in fed
erally owned land out West. Why we would want to take a step,
small and incremental though it may be, to replicate the system in
this part of the country that has done so much harm in the West
ern United States is something I do not understand.

Over and beyond that, I am somewhat disturbed—and I was glad
to hear the chairman address this in his remarks—by the lack of
definition in the bill. What exactly constitutes the area that we are
talking about? There is nothing in the bill to keep this some day
from being extended northward into Vermont and southward into
Maryland. Equally, I doubt very seriously if the activities foreseen
in the bill will cease on December 31, 2014. What I think we have
here is an open-ended bill.

You know, looking at this from kind of a philosophical perspec
tive, I want to come back to the whole idea of government owner
ship of land. If I wanted to develop a strategy for the pauperization
of rural America, one of the first things that I would do is I would
make sure that the Government owns as much land as possible.
The Government could be Federal or State. And at the same time,
if I could not buy all the land, then I would make sure that I could
control how that land is being used.

We can see this in the chairman’s own home State of Idaho, a
beautiful place. I have had the opportunity to visit many times.
But 63 percent of it is owned by the Federal Government, in addi
tion to which there are State lands. Parts of rural Idaho, as well
as Montana and other parts of the West, suffer greatly for a variety
of reasons, not the least of which is the enormous burdens placed
upon local communities by Federal ownership of land. Counties
with problems that they have to solve with respect to infrastruc
ture, schools, and what have find that they do not have the tax
base to support that.

I think the people who are in the Highlands now support the leg
islation—I want to compliment Mr. Gilbert and other people here
who have done a splendid job of packaging this. But I think down
the road—I hope I am wrong, but I think down the road that they
are going to have strenuous objections to what is being done. I be
lieve the bill takes a step in the wrong direction and I believe that
ultimately that property owners and local governments in the area
are going to regret many of the things that the bill contains.

I see that the red light is flashing, so I will conclude my remarks.
Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Dr. Cohen follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF BONNER R. COHEN, PH.D., SENIOR FELLOW, NATIONAL
CENTER FOR PUBLIC POLICY REsEARCH, ON H.R. 1964

Good afternoon, my name is Bonner Cohen. I am a senior fellow with the National
Center for Public Policy Research in Washington, D.C. and a member of the Board
of Directors of the American Policy Center in Warrenton, Virginia. I want to thank
Chairman Craig and the other members of the subcommittee for the opportunity to
comment on the “Highlands Conservation Act,” H.R. 1964.

I believe the legislation under consideration by this subcommittee is flawed in.
several key respects. At a fundamental level, it equates government ownership of
land with conservation, an idea our Founding Fathers would have found amusing,
to say the least. At least 40 percent of the land area of the United States is owned
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by government—federal, state, and local. Much of this land is poorly managed—
from overgrown, disease-ridden national forests that routinely spawn catastrophic
wildflres, to national parks that are in such a state of disrepair that the Park Serv
ice estimates it will take $5 billion and many years to undo the damage. To set
aside more hard-earned taxpayer dollars for additional land acquisitions, in the
name of conservation, is to ignore the disastrous environmental consequences of the
already bloated public estate.

Unfortunately, this is exactly what the Highlands Conservation Act does. The bill
will increase the size of the public estate in the Highlands region. In doing so, it
will pose a severe threat to the rights and livelihoods of property owners in the tar
geted area. While the bill gives property owners the right to decline selling their
lands, this “willing-seller” provision is illusory. In the real world, there is no such
thing as a “willing seller.”

In the case of the Highlands Conservation Act, “non-federal entities,” also known
as non-governmental organizations (NGOs), with a clear political agenda will iden
tify lands for “management” and will oversee the ensuing conservation actions. Few
landowners will be able to withstand the pressure of environmental groups working
in concert with state and local governments, eager to acquire private lands with tax
payer money. As the public estate in the region grows, the value of adjacent private
lands will diminish. And, as property values decline, landowners will have little
choice but to sell their land at a fraction of its former worth.

Furthermore, the removal of private land from the tax roles will have a dev
astating effect on local revenues. Raising property taxes on the remaining private
lands will be the only way local governments can make up the revenue short-fall.
This, in turn, could force additional landowners to sell their property to the govern
ment.

We are told that the bill will cost $100 million, to be disbursed in $10 million in
crements between 2005 and 2014. But there is nothing in the bill that prevents Con
gress from continuing appropriations beyond 2014. Similarly, the scope of the bill
is currently limited to some 2 million acres in Pennsylvania, New York, New Jersey,
and Connecticut. But there is nothing in the legislation to keep the area from being
expanded to include highland areas in, say, Maryland and Vermont. In fact, the bill
grants the U.S. Forest Service the right to continue land assessments studies and
provides $1 million toward that end. As such, the legislation is an open-ended. invi
tation for government and its carefully selected “partners” to lock up more land.

Indeed, equally disturbing is the cozy relationship the Highlands Conservation
Act envisages between government and certain NGOs. The governors of the four
states currently covered under the bill will identify lands in the Highlands region
for management, based on recommendations made by state and local environmental
organizations. These suggestions will then be forwarded to officials at the Depart
ments of Interior and Agriculture for review, who will submit final recommenda
tions to Congress for the purpose of appropriating the 50 percent federal share of
matching funds.

Once this process has been completed, the NGOs will set about overseeing and
managing the lands they themselves played a large part in identifying. As a sign
of just how cozy the relationship is between the NGOs and the various government
entities involved in the Highlands Conservation Act, one of these groups, the Pali
sades Interstate Park Commission, is specifically cited in the bill.

Allowing these organizations—elected by no one and accountable to no one—to
join forces with friendly state regulators supported by federal funds and impose
land-use restrictions on unsuspecting property owners makes a travesty of rep
resentative democracy. While the bill keeps federal bureaucrats largely out of the
land-management decisions, is simply replaces them with state regulators and allied
environmental groups. To the landowner, this is a distinction without a difference.

At a time of skyrocketing budget deficits at the federal, state, and local level,
using scarce taxpayer dollars to acquire more land—taking it out of productive use
and removing it from the tax rolls—makes no economic sense. The key to an eco
nomically and environmentally vibrant rural America does not lie in government
ownership of land. American agriculture leads the world not because the land is
owned by the government and managed by politically favored NGOs, but because
it is under the stewardship of farmers whose livelihoods depend on how they use
and conserve their land.

The Highlands Conservation Act ignores this lesson. If enacted, it will be harmful
for the people in the Highlands and their environment.

Thank you very much.

Senator Cisio. Dr. Cohen, thank you very much.
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Because the panel is divided in the way we have asked you to
be seated, let me ask questions of both you, Mr. Gilbert and Dr.
Cohen, before we move on to testimony on the other legislation of
S. 433. I trust you two can be patient while we work our way
through this. Thank you very much.

Mr. Gilbert, I do not in any way question the intent or the value
that you see in the Highlands conservation project. I think Dr.
Cohen has expressed some concerns that I have to some extent,
and yet I value tremendously the public land base of my State. It
has given us our uniqueness and our beauty, but it is a public land
base that in some instances has been mismanaged, and we now
work to correct that, and in other instances where it is not being
managed at all, Mother Nature is not treating it so well. So it ap
pears to be a base of property that has endless value and endless
turmoil. You will probably hear a little bit of that in the next two
panelists. I wish it were not that way. I guess it is the character
of it.

And yet, in rapidly urbanizing areas, I do not question the desire
to have open space or the desire to protect watersheds from being
concreted and asphalted over. I appreciate that. I am also always
reminded when I take a night flight from here into New York, how
it is almost all lights, and that concerns me that we would totally,
if you will, develop the eastern seaboard and not protect some of
its lands. Certainly we are working to do that. You obviously are
working mightily to do so.

But having said that, I do like to legislate in ways that have defi
nition and understanding, that are clear, that do not provoke law
suits or frustrations, that do protect private landowners. Arid at
the same time, I do agree that private landowners can find them
selves in very difficult situations if they were to stand in the way
of certain broader public desires, if you will.

You have heard me ask the two gentlemen from our different
agencies about the size. It is obvious, when I look at the Highlands
proposal, I look at one that spreads not from New York through
New Jersey, but from one that spreads from New York to the Penn
sylvania-Maryland line. While it is true that the Forest Service has
not expressed that, it appears that the desires of those who are the
advocates express and believe in that.

Would you talk to us a little bit about definition and a boundary
and the support you might give to being specific about boundary
and limitations within this proposed legislation?

Mr. GILBERT. Certainly, Mr. Chairman. Admittedly, the legisla
tion I think is somewhat open-ended in terms of the extent of the
region. I would point out that the acreage of the New York-New
Jersey study area, as per the 2002 update, is 1.5 million acres. So
just to put a little bit of context in the figure over 2 million, how
much more land might we be talking about in Connecticut and
Pennsylvania, so potentially expanding by roughly half a million
acres.

The Highlands Coalition—again, our membership and our view
of the region is as a greenbelt that really spans from the Maryland
border to the Massachusetts border, and the explanation for that
is that this is the eastern-most ridge of the Appalachian chain as
it borders these metropolitan areas. That is the key definition.



32

That is what makes the Highlands important is that these are the
lands that are very close to millions of people, that provide and
protect the water supply, that provide recreation opportunities
close to home. So from our perspective that is the most compelling
definition.

Now, as you said, that is not necessarily the Forest Service’s defi
nition. That is the case that we are making. It will be up to the
Forest Service based on their assessments, which, as I have men
tioned, they have already met with State and local officials and
begun to look at ecological mapping, to figure out what a scientific
basis for defining the region might be in those two States. That will
be and should be their call.

But in response to Mr. Cohen, in terms of the open-endedness of
this, 1 think the legislation clearly defines the region as Con
necticut to Pennsylvania, so there is no authority within the legis
lation to expand beyond that, while certainly there is a need to bet
ter define the region within those two States.

Senator CRAIG. Section 5(5)(a) says, projects will be consistent
with areas identified as high conservation value named in the
Highlands study area.

Mr. GILBERT. That is correct. So I guess my interpretation of that
is that in order for Pennsylvania and Connecticut to then become
eligible for the funds authorized under the act, the Forest Service
would first need to identify such lands in those States. In the ab
sence of that identification by the Forest Service, those States
would not be eligible for the funds.

In fact, there was language in an earlier version of the bill that
was stripped out at some point which, under the eligibility require
ments, said, and other similar studies conducted by the Forest
Service in the Highlands region, which was essentially a
placeholder. I am not sure why and when that was stripped out,
but perhaps that is something that could be clarified through re
port language or amendment to the legislation.

Senator CRAIG. So in your mind can a Governor propose a project
outside of the Forest Service list?

Mr. GILBERT. No. As I read the bill, Mr. Chairman, that would
be an eligibility requirement. That is the starting point from which
the Governors must identify projects. It has to be within areas
identified as high value by the Forest Service.

Senator CReuG. By definition, when these lands are acquired,
they move from a private to a public status.

Mr. GILBERT. As I read the bill, the eligible use of the funds
would include State purchase of—again, this is non-Federal acqui
sition—lands or interest in lands. So development rights could be
purchased, and in that case public dollars are stretched further and
the land remains in private hands. Traditional uses of the lands
can continue. So I think that is an important distinction to note
here as well that this is non-Federal. This is State acquisition or
purchase of development rights.

Senator ClUUG. But none of them would become Federal by defi
nition in your mind. They would become State properties.

Mr. GILBERT. As I read the bill, it is limited to State acquisition
or purchase of development rights.
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Senator CRAIG. Dr. Cohen, you had expressed some concerns
similar to mine in relation to the length of the Highlands area, as
well as the width of the area. Given your reading of the bill, do you
see this as an expansive process or a limited process?

Dr. COHEN. I think it is kind of the nature of the beast. Once you
create these things, there is nothing in the current language of the
bill to keep, at some point down the road, someone from offering
an amendment or something like that to further expand the area
under coverage, say, north into Vermont and south into Maryland.
As of right now, as far as I can see, other than the point that Mr.
Gilbert made and others have made, it is not clearly defined what
the area within the four States is, but I am concerned that at some
point down the road, things being what they are, the area could be
expanded into additional States.

Senator CRaIG. You expressed some concern here. If the private
property and willing seller/willing buyer language is not strong
enough for you, would you provide my staff with an alternative pri
vate property protection language?

Dr. COHEN. Yes, I would be happy to. Let me give you an exam
ple, a very quick one, of the kinds of things we have to guard
against here.

Ann Corcoran is an owner of a farm near the Antietam Military
Battlefield in Maryland. A few years ago, she found out that the
Conservation Trust, in close cooperation with the U.S. Park Serv
ice, was going around the battlefield and the area near the battle
field and purchasing parcels of land and then turning around and
selling that land to the U.S. Park Service. Had that been allowed
to continue, her farm would have become an inholding. As you well
know as someone who is out West, this is not a very pleasant state
of affairs and it is something that can greatly reduce the value of
the property.

Fortunately for Mrs. Corcoran, who incidentally was a former
employee of the Nature Conservancy and the Audubon Society, the
irony being what it is, she was politically well connected enough
and had enough money to defend herself. But I am deeply con
cerned about smaller landowners who will not have the money to
go to an attorney to defend himself. And this is just the kind of
thing that I think needs to be put into the bill. So I would be happy
to do that for you.

Senator CILsUG. Well, thank you. Thank you, both. As I expressed
to the Senator and the Congressman, I express to both of you, as
we move this legislation forward, we will work closely with you to
see if some of these additional questions might be resolved andlor
clarified before it will move out of this committee and to the floor
for a vote. So I thank you both very much for your time and your
commitment to these issues.

Now let me turn to my colleagues from Idaho and S. 433. A lady
from Elk City, Idaho. For those of you who have never been to Elk
City, Idaho, it truly is the community at the end of the road, and
a wonderful community it is, small and at the end of a very long
road through a national forest. So, Susie, you have traveled a long
distance just to get to pavement, let alone for that pavement to
take you to an airport, let alone for that airport to bring you here.
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So we welcome you before the committee and appreciate your testi
mony. Please proceed.

STATEMENT OF SUSIE BOROWICZ, ELK CITY, ID
Ms. BOROWICZ. Thank you very much, Senator. I would really

like to thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today.
I bring greetings from beautiful north central Idaho and especially
from my home town, Elk City, which is a small, rural, wonderful
town. It is at the very end of the road and at the headwaters of
the south fork of the Clearwater River. We are surrounded by 2.2
million acres of the Nez Perce National Forest.

I certainly appreciate your very strong words and your expres
sion of frustration over the situation in our woods, in our forests.
I totally share that. When the Healthy Forests Restoration Act was
passed, Forest Service Chief Dale Bosworth had the words for us,
we will not fail, we shall not fail. And my message to him is basi
cally we have failed in Red River. We have failed to meet an obliga
tion there and they have failed us to be good neighbors. They have
made us promises. They have made excuses. But to this point in
time, they have not come through with anything of value to help
out our community.

They have a responsibility to us, and this bill provides an oppor
tunity to help in this area and to give us another opportunity to
act with them.

Two years ago, I retired as the principal from Elk City school,
and our school population during the time that I was principal
dropped from 132 students to now 32 students in grades K through
8. I had nine and a half teachers on my staff, and now there are
only three. Many, many of these staff cuts came because of budget
constraints because of the Federal forest moneys not being avail
able to schools. The Craig-Wyden legislation has definitely been a
lifesaver for our district. I cannot tell you how much it has done
for us.

This pilot project bill is certainly needed to provide an oppor
tunity to augment these moneys in our district where 89 percent
of our land is federally owned and where we have 92 percent of our
children in our school on free and reduced lunch. Those timber re
ceipt revenues and other economic benefits that are foreseeable
from activities in this pilot project will be definitely a shot in the
arm to communities like ours in the Clearwater basin, including
our schools and our roads. I cannot tell you how much it is needed
there.

There is a great and very imminent need to implement this pilot
project. Forest insects and disease, wildfire, and other threats to
fish and wildlife habitat in our local communities are particularly
severe, and they are very, very much in need of treatment. The
Forest Service is trying to do their best to get started in developing
and implementing some strategies, but it is only a small fraction
of what needs to be done. The Red River and American River
drainages around Elk City are perfect examples where the Forest
Service has not come close to keeping up with their insect infesta
tions and they are destroying the living forest.

There is much more preventative, remedial, and restorative work
that needs to be done. Folks in Grangeville, in Orofino, in Kamiah,
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in Kooskia, and other communities in the basin share the concerns
of the citizens in Elk City about the conditions of the forest that
surround them. I cannot tell you about the fear of sitting on a deck
at night at our home and hearing the lightening strike around us
and not know what is going to happen that night, whether the fires
will start close to home or far away from home. It is a tremendous
fear to live through something like that and to have the forests
threatened and your livelihood threatened and your home threat
ened.

The people who live and work among the Federal forests in the
West are now much less isolated than we were in prior years. We
have access to the same sources of information and we discuss a
lot of the same issues that any Americans do. Just because we are
backwoods does not necessarily mean that we are backward. We
share the new national values toward conservation and we share
the restoration of the national ecosystems.

But as neighbors and stewards of federally managed land, we
know that the government can too often act as an absentee land
lord. That is why we want to be good neighbors, along with others
who care a great deal about our public lands. We want to help
those Federal managers to conserve and sustain those national
treasures.

About 5 years ago, I was asked to serve on the Federal Forest
Lands Task Force, and this S. 433 is very near and very dear to
my heart. Our mission was to come up with pilot projects to test
new approaches to the management of Federal public lands that
had been studied in an earlier task force report. Our attention was
to assist these Federal managers to manage the lands more effec
tively, more efficiently, and more responsive to local communities
and broader national interests.

This report was widely distributed. It got 80 percent favorable
comments, and the Clearwater Basin Stewardship Project is one of
those that is adapted from the five that we proposed.

In conclusion, I would like to just strongly support the prompt
enactment of 5. 433. I would like to thank you especially for this
opportunity to share my excitement about the possibilities this bill
would create for those of us living in north central Idaho. I am a
member of the North Central Idaho RAC committee, and our group
is probably one of the strongest, one of the best, and I think one
of the most active groups in Idaho. A lot of our work has been done
on watershed restoration, and this bill would be a perfect fit for our
group, which has a wide, diverse group of people that represent a
large number of constituents of varying backgrounds.

The national forests in our basin are currently facing the threat
of catastrophic wildfire and disaster from forest conditions that are
out of historical balance. We are on a 100-year rotation cycle and
our 100 years is almost up because it is timed right with the 1910
fires that Senator Craig mentioned. So we only have 6 more years.

With the efforts of the collaborative group such as this bill would
create, we can work together to reduce these threats around our
homes and we can work to enhance the sustainability of the for
ests, the fish, the wildlife and the ecological wealth of north central
Idaho.

Thank you very much.
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[The prepared statement of Ms. Borowicz follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SUSIE BOROWICZ ON S. 433

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, thank you for the opportunity
to appear before you today. I bring greetings to you from beautiful North Central
Idaho and in particular from my home, Elk City. Elk City is a wonderful, small
rural town near the headwaters of the South Fork of the Clear-water River. We are
surrounded by the 2.2 million-acre Nez Perce National Forest.

Senate Bill 433, the Clearwater Basin pilot project bill, is very near and dear to
my heart. About five years ago I was asked to serve on the Federal Forest Lands
Task Force Working Group. Our mission was to come up with pilot projects within
the state of Idaho to test new approaches to management of federal public lands
that had been studied in an earlier Task Force report. Our intention has always
been to assist federal managers to manage these public lands in ways that are more
efficient, effective and responsive to local communities and to broader national inter
ests. We issued a December 2000 report, Breaking the Gridlock: Federal Land Pilot
Projects In Idaho, in which we recommended specific pilot projects to be considered
for implementation. The report was widely distributed for public comment, and 80%
of the comments received were favorable. The Clearwater Basin Stewardship Col
laborative Project, from which 5. 433 is adapted, was one of the pilot projects that
we recommended in the report. I think that the entire Working Group shares my
strong belief that a Clearwater pilot project can be successfully implemented, based
on the collaborative efforts of citizens and communities in the Clearwater basin.

As a member of the Working Group and a citizen who lives in the Clearwater
Basin, I support the enactment of S. 433. S. 433 sets out a pilot project that will,
based on a public process for local and national interest constituencies to reach
agreement with the Forest Service, identi& and implement high priority conserva
tion and stewardship activities on Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forest lands
in the Basin. The bill could yield sorely needed environmental and community bene
fits over the next several years.

The bill will establish a broad-based collaborative advisory panel to work with the
Forest Service, Nez Perce Tribe, and other stakeholders to focus on fish and wildlife
habitat restoration, forest health, and other particular projects in need of priority
attention to improve the condition of the national forest lands in the Basin. With
consensus reached on these activities, priority would be given to complete environ
mental review, public participation and other required procedures for the Forest
Service to consider and reach final decisions regarding implementation. I believe
that the structure of the bill will allow a very useful practical test of an approach
to getting past what has been called the “gridlock,” “analysis paralysis” and “process
predicament” that has consumed the Forest Service in paperwork, appeals, and law
suits, and greatly slowed and encumbered getting environmentally sound and bene
ficial work done in the field.

There is a great and imminent need to implement this pilot project. Forest insects
and disease, wildfire and other threats to fish and wildlife habitat and our local
communities are particularly severe and very much in need of treatment. The For
est Service is trying to do their best to get started in developing and implementing
some treatments, but this is only a small fraction of what needs to get done. The
Red River and American River drainages around Elk City are examples of areas
where the Forest Service has not come close to keeping up with insect infestations
that are destroying the living forest and creating a huge fire hazard. However, there
is much more preventive, remedial, and restoration work to be done on other na
tional forest lands in the Basin as well. People in Grangeville, Kamiah, Orofino, and
many other communities in the Basin share the concerns of citizens in Elk City
about the current condition of national forest lands and the need for more effective
management actions. This pilot project would mesh with and enhance efforts to ad
dress these needs under the Healthy Forests Restoration Act, our national, Idaho
and community fire plans, stewardship contracting authority and other recent ini
tiatives.

The people who live and work among the federal forests in the West are now
much less isolated than we were in prior years. We have access to the same sources
of information and discuss most of the same issues as any Americans today. We
share the new century’s national values toward conservation and restoration of im
portant ecosystems. But as neighbors and stewards of federally managed lands, we
know that the government can too often act like an absentee landlord. That’s why
we citizen neighbors, along with others who care a great deal about these public
lands, must help federal managers to conserve and sustain national forest treasures.
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Fortunately, we already have a collaborative advisory group that works with the
Forest Service on Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forest issues. I am a member
of the North Central Idaho Resource Advisory Committee (“RAC”) established under
the Craig-Wyden legislation. I believe that the North Central Idaho RAC is one of
the strongest, and most active, well-run RACs in our state. Our RAC group is made
up of very diverse individuals with varying backgrounds and interests. Our meet
ings are very remarkable, with much give and take and everyone listening intently
to each other. Because we have folks from across the full spectrum of environ
mental, business, and community interests, we represent many, many different con
stituents.

The current work of the North Central Idaho RAC is basically limited to projects
eligible for County funding under the Secure Rural Schools and Community Self-
Determination Act, also known the Craig-Wyden legislation. Much of our work has
concerned watershed restoration activities. 5. 433 takes a reasonable step beyond
the Craig-Wyden legislation and other existing law to empower a stakeholder advi
sory panel to work with the Forest Service on a substantially broader range and
scale of priority stewardship projects. It is my hope that the North Central Idaho
RAC can be eligible to serve as the collaborative advisory panel under the provisions
of 5. 433, or that its members can be eligible to serve on the panel. This would fa
cilitate implementation of the pilot project, since the North Central Idaho RAC is
already established, and its members have proven over the course of 2½ years to
be able to work together to agree upon getting projects done out on the ground.

The timber receipt revenues and other economic benefits that are foreseeable from
activities that are expedited through the pilot project will be a shot in the arm to
the communities in the basin, including our local schools and roads. Two years ago
I retired as principal from Elk City School. Our school population during my tenure
as principal dropped from 132 students in grades K-1O to where now we have 32
students in grades K-S. I had a staff of 9½ teachers and now there are only 3 on
staff. Many, many of my staff cuts came because of budget constraints because of
the Forest Funds monies not being available to us. The Craig Wyden legislation has
been a lifesaver for our district, but this pilot project bill is certainly needed to pro
vide an opportunity to augment those monies in our district—where 89% of the land
is federally owned and where we have 92% of our children on free and reduced
lunch.

From a community point of view there is very strong local support for this bill.
It offers us another important opportunity to make our forests healthier. It gives
us another avenue of action and another chance to “break the gridlock” and help
the Nez Perce and Clearwater National Forests on their way to hecome more pro
ductive, beautiful and sustainable forest lands.

I believe that this legislation should receive bipartisan support at the national
level as an Idaho pilot project that can be fully implemented within existing na
tional forest laws. The bill does not exempt any Forest Service decisions or activities
from environmental laws, administrative appeal or judicial review. It does not dic
tate that any particular activities occur, it simply provides a framework for achiev
ing improved evaluation and agreement on activities that should receive priority at
tention. It doesn’t present a threat to any resource or user group. It is structured
to facilitate inclusive, collaborative efforts to further conservation and environ
mental objectives.

In conclusion, I strongly support prompt enactment of 5. 433. I thank each of you
for this opportunity to share my excitement about the possibilities this bill would
create for those of us living in North Central Idaho. The Clearwater Basin country
is truly a treasure. The national forest lands in the basin are currently facing the
threat of catastrophic wildfire and other disaster from forest conditions that are out
of historical balance and that continue to deteriorate. With the efforts of a collabo
rative group such as this bill would create, we can work together to reduce these
threats. We can work together to enhance the sustainability of the forest, fish, wild
life, and ecological wealth of North Central Idaho!

Senator C1t41o. Susie, thank you very much.
Now let me turn to Rick Johnson, executive director of the Idaho

Conservation League from Boise. Rick, welcome before the com
mittee.
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STATEMENT OF RICK JOHNSON, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
IDAHO CONSERVATION LEAGUE, BOISE, II)

Dr. JOHNSON. Thank you for the opportunity to comment today.
The Idaho Conservation League has been working to protect and
restore the air, water, wildiands, and wildlife of Idaho for over 30
years.

The Clearwater basin, as defined by this bill, is comprised of over
2.7 million acres on the Clearwater and Nez Perce National For
ests. Over half of this 2.7 million acres is roadless and undeveloped
and, in many respects, still today as it was in frontier days. The
last section of the Lewis and Clark trail that is still a trail, still
a footpath through the forest, can be found here.

High quality spawning habitat for salmon and steelhead are
found in the Clearwater. These ocean-going fish are but just one
tangible example of how the Clearwater is a national treasure. The
Clearwater contains a myriad of sites sacred to the Nez Perce and
today provides Idahoans of all ages unparalleled recreation experi
ences.

As our Nation pauses to commemorate the bicentennial of the
Lewis and Clark expedition, we should be gathered here to praise
and protect the Clearwater to enhance protections, not to cast it to
new and untested management regimes.

Our primary concern with 5. 433 is that it takes this very special
part of our national forests, held in trust for all Americans, and
places much of it in the control of a majority vote of 15 local people.

I understand the frustrations that develop over Forest Service
management, and I am not here to defend them, but I suggest that
frustration with the agency in favor of a new group with no proven
expertise or legal requirement for national interest stewardship is
the wrong path.

A few points of concern with the proposed legislation.
The 5-year schedule of activities developed by the advisory panel

would have a rushed environmental review that could lead to insu
lation from the protections of environmental law and weakens cur
rent planning and public participation processes.

The 5-year schedule of activities would consolidate a wide variety
of projects into one decision document, in effect, raising the stakes
of legal challenge rather than lessening the impact of judicial chal
lenge that is now focused on individual site-specific activities.

Finally, from its beginning in the State of Idaho’s Federal Land
Task Force, we have seen a troubling yet fairly obvious objective:
to weaken or eliminate the safeguards of environmental law and
public involvement in order to promote and expedite logging and
other commodity uses. We see this as contrary to the purposes of
our Nation’s public lands.

Senator, as you know, the Idaho Conservation League regularly
demonstrates an openness to engage in cooperative and collabo
rative projects on public lands. Success, unfortunately, has been
modest in these endeavors. We would advise investing deeper in
the collaborative projects now underway to create a record of suc
cess that we can all be proud of on the ground before legislatively
forcing new processes on a very skeptical public.



39

Collaboration comes from the bottom up and is based on local
leadership and involvement. The situation has to be ripe and ready
for people to come together and invest the needed time to succeed.

For instance, in the Owyhee Canyonlands, at the invitation of
the Owyhee County Commission, the Idaho Conservation League
has been at the negotiation table with ranchers and other local in
terests for over 2 and a half years. This is unprecedented work and
we did not need Congress to tell us to do it.

Closer to the Clearwater, the Idaho Conservation League partici
pated in the Meadow Face Pilot Stewardship Project on the Nez
Perce. We also worked on the forest RAC’s, are engaged in numer
ous discussions on fire and restoration in and around the wildland/
urban interface. We are involved in the Clearwater Elk Collabo
rative and more.

In summary, the Idaho Conservation League opposes 5. 433 on
several grounds, and these include that the Clearwater and Nez
Perce National Forests contain some of the Nation’s finest and
most vulnerable unprotected wildlands. This is a place worthy of
our Nation’s greatest stewardship, not untested management
schemes.

5. 433 would set up a new set of regulations controlled by a few
people, some with a commodity production mandate, to control the
future of one of our most prized national treasures.

And finally, we believe there is a growing role for cooperative
projects on our public lands, but local involvement needs to start
at home rather than be mandated by Congress. Collaboration is
borne of trust, not force and comes in steps, not leaps.

Thank you very much for the opportunity to participate in to
day’s hearing.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Johnson follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF RICK JOHNsON, ExEcuTivE DIRECTOR, IDAHO
CONSERVATION LEAGUE, ON S. 433

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on S. 433. The Idaho Conservation
League works to protect and restore the air, water, wildiands, and wildlife of Idaho,
and for over thirty years the Idaho Conservation League has been an advocate for
Idaho’s outdoor values. The Clearwater Country is important to us: we have an of
fice in the area, and our members hunt and fish, camp and hike, live and work,
and otherwise enjoy this remarkable part of the West. We appreciate the oppor
tunity to speak to you today.

I have three points I’d like to make:
• First, the Clearwater Basin is one of the nation’s premier forest landscapes and

worthy of the highest stewardship and protection.
• Second, under the banner of local involvement, which we do support, what

would be actually be created is a new form of exclusive command and control
management over National Forests, where national and regional values could
all too easily be usurped by special interests.

• Finally, a purpose of this act is to “improv(e) collaborative relationships.” The
Idaho Conservation League is very involved in a variety of collaborative forums,
and we do not need new laws to continue or improve them. We do, however,
need leadership and additional resources to allow them to succeed.

THE cLEARwATER

As we sit here in Washington, I’d like to share for the Committee a bit about this
wonderful country Sen. Craig and I are blessed to call home.

The Clearwater Basin as defined by this bill, is comprised of over 2.7 million acres
on the Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests and is a national treasure. Over
half of this 2.7 million acres is roadless and undeveloped, in man, respects still
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today as it was in frontier days and homeland to the Nez Perce Indians. In fact,the last section of the Lewis and Clark trail that is still a trail, still a footpath
through the forest, can he found here.

High quality spawning habitat for salmon and steelhead are found in the Clear-
water. These ocean-going fish are but one tangible example of how the Clearwater
is a national treasure. Commercial and sport fishermen, native tribes, and an entire
Northwest identity are tied to these fish that travel from Idaho, to Washington, Or
egon, and out to the sea and back again. The Clearwater contains a myriad of sites
sacred to the Nez Perce, and today, provides Idahoans of all ages unparalleled recre
ation experiences in places like Kelly Creek, the Lob Trail, the Lochsa River, Pot
Mountain, Weitas Creek, and the Mallard-Larkins.

As our nation pauses to commemorate the bicentennial of the Lewis and Clark
expedition, we should be gathered here to praise and protect the Clearwater for all
time, to enhance protections, not to cast it to new and untested management re
gimes. As Idahoans, the lands encompassed in this bill are anchors to our qualityof life, our history, and indeed, our future. The Clearwater Country represents some
of the finest examples of public land in our nation; as much as anywhere these are
indeed our National Forests.

S. 433

Our primary concern with S. 433 is that it takes this very special part of our National Forests, held in trust for all Americans, and places much of it in the control
of 15 local people.

I understand frustrations that develop over Forest Service management. I’m nothere to defend the US Forest Service. But I will suggest that frustration with one
of our nation’s most trusted agencies in favor of new command and control manage
ment from a new group with no proven expertise and no legal requirement for national-interest stewardship is the wrong path.

This proposal originates in the deeply flawed Federal Lands Task Force, a State
of Idaho scheme to take over portions our public lands. Our organization was involved in the early phases of this task force until it became clear that regardless
of our input it was an industry-controlled effort to maximize production.

A few points of concern with the Clearwater project as we understand it:
• The 5-year schedule of activities developed by the advisory panel would have

an rushed environmental review by the agency that could lead to insulation
from the protections of environmental law.

• The 5-year schedule of activities would consolidate a wide variety of projects
into one decision document lumping both non-controversial projects with those
raising greater concern from the public. This, in effect, raises the stskes from
various legal challenges rather than lessening the impact of judicial challenge
now focused on site-specific projects.

• Finally, from its very beginning in the State of Idaho’s Federal Land Task
Force, we have seen a troubling yet fairly obvious objective: weaken or elimi
nate the safeguards of environmental law and public involvement in order to
promote logging and other commodity uses. We see this as a direct conflict with
the purposes of public lands generally, but extraordinarily troublesome on the
Clearwater, one of the nation’s greatest examples of unprotected, undeveloped
National Forest.

COLLABORATION

My third point addresses a key goal of this legislation: to improve collaborative
relationships. Now there are many in the conservation community who are very sus
picious of collaborative processes. Such concerns are not without basis, but I amhere as a conservationist willing to engage in such work.

As Senator Craig well knows, the Idaho Conservation League has a long history
and regularly demonstrates openness to cooperative and collaborative projects on
public lands. Success, quite frankly, has been modest. We would advise investing
deeper in collaborative projects now underway to create a record of success before
legislatively forcing new processes on a very skeptical public.

Collaboration comes from the bottom up, and is based on local leadership and involvement. The situation has to be ripe and ready for people to come together and
invest the needed time to succeed.

For instance, in the Owyhee Canyonlands, at the invitation of the Owyhee CountyCommission, the Idaho Conservation League has been at the negotiation table with
ranchers and other local interests for over two and a half years. We hope to see leg-
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islation come from that procesa to this committee this year. This is unprecedented
work, and we didn’t need Congress to tell us to do it.

Closer to the Clearwater, the Idaho Conservation League participated in the
Meadow Face Pilot Stewardship Project on the Nez Perce Forest. This effort re
sulted in a good proposal with multiple benefits, but overall it failed because the
goods-for-services concept of payment could not cover the costs of the project—a
high-risk area with low value timber—and the conservation work we all agreed to
do had no other means of funding.

CONCLUSION

In summary, the Idaho Conservation League opposes S. 433 on several grounds.
These include:

• The Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests contain some of the nation’s
finest and most vulnerable unprotected wildlands. This is a place worthy of our
nation’s greatest stewardship, not untested management schemes.

• 5. 433 will set up a new set of regulations, controlled by a few people—some
with a commodity production mandate—to control the future of one of our
prized national treasures.

• A finally, we believe there is a growing role for cooperative projects on our pub
lic lands. But local involvement needs to start at home rather than be mandated
by Congress. Collaboration is borne of trust not force, and comes in steps not
leaps.

Thank you for the opportunity to participate in this hearing.

Senator CRaIG. Rick, thank you very much.
A couple of questions of both of you. I think we probably all

share some of the same frustrations and maybe with different ways
of getting at them. I am pleased to watch the Craig-Wyden RAC’s
at work. They appear to be working in many instances. They have
tackled some reasonably tough issues, but not some of the larger
issues that stifi plague us. I think that the task force addresses
itself to that broader approach to some extent.

Rick, I know you have concern and question and there is a great
deal of good work that the Idaho Conservation League does.

In the composition of the advisory panel on pages 4 and 5, we
attempted to be as open and as inclusive as possible. What we are
finding out—and I think you would agree to some extent—is that
while not one size fits all, local input is extremely valuable some
times and that while we can establish broad Federal guidelines
that have to be met within a process, that we should not allow that
Federal guideline to absolutely control the uniqueness of a given
area, a watershed, as long as certain standards are met.

In certain categories and in category 2 of an advisory panel, we
talk about those from national environmental organizations, re
gional and local environmental organizations, dispersed rec
reational activity groups, archaeological and historical interests,
national and regional fish and wildlife interests. That is in category
2. So we do reach out, as we have with the RAC’s, to organizations
like yours and even beyond yours to maybe national organizations
who could participate in what is a collaborative process. Do you ob
ject to that?

Dr. JOHNSON. No. We appreciate the opportunity and are fre
quently given the opportunity to both participate in formal and in
formal collaborative processes. The agency has full authority to, as
you know, initiate advisory panels and things like that, and we are
often called to do that.

One of the challenges that we face, however, is despite the con
tention of some that the environmental movement is this huge,



42

giant monolith, there really actually are very few of us, and the
ability to adequately staff and participate in these often very time-
consuming processes is frankly not easy. And the transportation,
with all due respect, to get to the end of the road can sometimes
be pretty challenging.

We do, however, as citizen participants in public land processes
in Idaho appreciate the opportunity and, as often as possible, take
the opportunity to participate. I think, as you well know, there are
many in the conservation community, however, that do not engage
in collaborative processes and that frankly limits the pool.

Senator CRAIG. I appreciate the commitment because both sides
have to participate. They have to give time away from their jobs.
Some are paid for doing it, some are not. But we all understand
that in the public process in a representative democracy, I would
much prefer the public to be making the decisions than a bureau
crat in some instances. While it is certainly the responsibility of an
agency person to make sure that guidelines are adhered to, if we
are to have some say in the way our local communities survive and
the environments around them, there has to be a level of local par
ticipation.

What we are striving for here—and I would think that Idahoans,
be they of the community or of all of these category groups, would
want to participate if the participation—and this is what is key—
is meaningful. If it is simply to meet and meet and meet and then
have a Federal agency say, well, that does not really count, we are
going to go ahead and do it this way, I think that is what has frus
trated us for so long and frankly, as you well know, has brought
about the kind of conflict that has brought public land policy to a
stalemate and in many instances, I would argue, might have cre
ated the loss of millions of acres of wildlands in the last several
years.

So what we are striving for here is to try to create a full
participatory process, but to bring just a little of it home just to
give Idahoans a little bit of the right, all Idahoans, to have a say
in the management of these lands.

As I say, to date because we have put incentive into the Craig
Wyden RAC’s, they are working in many instances. Things are get
ting done. Folks who have been at conflict with each other for a
decade are now becoming coffee cup friends, seeing that they can
work together for the common good, and we have incentivized them
to do so.

Well, there are a good many questions I could ask, and I will
leave it open. But is there any additional comment you would like
to make to what I just said, Rick?

Dr. JOHNSON. Well, I think one of the challenges that we face in
Idaho and across the West right now is, as has been repeatedly
mentioned, is the issue of fire in dealing with private property, in
dealing with the communities that are adjacent. I would suggest
for the record and just as fellow Idahoans here whether it is the
red tree project or the red tree issue in the Sawtooth NRA or pon
derosa overcrowding by Douglas fir in the Payette or cheat grass
infestations all across the Snake River plain or then up in the
Clearwater, the forest succession that is a result of the 1910 fire,
that we have many, many big challenges in front of us dealing with
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the issue of fire in the West. It is quite accurately a ticking time
bomb out there.

But I think that we are perhaps a tad arrogant to suggest that
a committee or a group of people putting together a group of
projects is going to fix that. So in any circumstance, be it this bill,
be it other bills, be it forest planning, I would hope that we do not
become so enamored with some of these processes to suggest that
that is what is going to fix the issue of too much forest succession
and too much fire suppression in the Intermountain West.

I would also close by just a reminder that ultimately there will
be fires in the West and we will have to ask communities and fel
low citizens to gather to deal with them. Nature always bats last.

Senator ClAici. Well, Rick, I thank you. We would like to have
you, if you will, provide us with a variety of realistic changes or
changes that you see as realistic in 5. 433 that might help expedite
some of these projects that deal with the situation around Elk City.

Your last and closing comment is consistent with what I have
just said and what I will say. You are absolutely right. We cannot
fix the current circumstance. There is not enough money in the
Federal Government. There is not enough time in the day for the
next 20 years to resolve the dead and dying nature of 160 million
acres of Federal forest lands, and some of them we would not want
to fix anyway.

But we did speak out this last year collectively as a Congress
that around communities it is incumbent upon us to try to save
them. To deny that opportunity is foolish because those are the
projects we can affect. We can affect some urban and community
watersheds and save them maybe. And I am not talking about
broad and expansive reaches beyond the definition that would be
millions or hundreds of thousands or tens of thousands of acres,
not at all. But to know that Elk City is sitting there ready to burn
and not to engage in a way that might create a reasonable and en
vironmentally sound buffer around it is in my opinion foolhardy.

As I turn to you, Susie, here is my concern about the uniqueness
of that property and those people. A few years ago, Rick and Susie,
I had the opportunity to visit Elk City again and the school. As I
was walking up to the school, it was about noon hour. Two kids
came out the front door of the school with fishing poles. They had
just left a computer and they were headed out for the lunch hour
and they were going to fish in the local stream behind the school.
I thought at that time what a phenomenal, idyllic situation and en
vironment to grow up in.

Well, 100 of those 132 kids are no longer there. They had to
leave because the community changed because there was nothing
left for them to do there or their parents. I can accept those kinds
of economic changes. I cannot accept them when they are arbi
trarily and capriciously decided by a group outside of Idaho for the
common good or the broader general good or philosophical need of
interests. That is what frustrates me.

And that is what we are talking about in Elk City at this mo
ment. Now we are talking about survival not of a sawmill or of a
job base, but of the homes.

Susie, you are right in expressing your concern for fear. Last
year 2,700 homes went up in smoke because the lightening either
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struck near or the winds took the lightening strike closer. And the
gridlock on the Clearwater and the upper reaches is obvious. I had
mentioned it to Dave Tenny in a meeting a year ago, and yet noth
ing has been done 1 year later after multiple promises, and the su
pervisor of that forest sitting right there and nodding his head all
the way through it, and just weeks ago in Elk City saying he could
not nor would he do anything. My goodness. Such power that local
supervisor has or such an activity he has chosen to take. That is
frustrating.

Could you speak to us about that gridlock and specifically as it
concerns the immediate area and what brought us to the task force
and ultimately the legislation?

Ms. BoRowIcz. The folks in the area around Elk City have been
working consistently year after year after year after year meeting
in workshops, going to meetings, working on the task force, trying
to get things going, looking for opportunities, looking for something
to help us out. I mean, this is not just an overnight thing. This has
been going on for a long, long time. That is, I think, where most
of our frustration level comes from is the promises being made and
the excuses being given as to why things cannot happen. And we
get the same thing year after year after year. And we go to the
same meetings year after year, and things are not getting any bet
ter. They are getting worse.

Senator CRAIG. I think you and Rick share that frustration, at
least with the meeting cycle.

Ms. BoRowlcz. I know what he is talking about because it does
take a lot of time. The people in Elk city have to take time to go
the meetings outside too. So it works both ways.

The Clearwater Elk Collaborative came up with figures for 2003
as to what is happening on the Nez Perce Forest, and there were
495 acres that were harvested on the entire forest in 2003, com
pared to 40,000 acres that were burned. The percentages there are
just phenomenal. It is .1 percent of the forest was harvested. That
is .1 of 1 percent. Almost over 2 percent of the forest was burned,
and that includes not only the fires but also the fires that were set
to maintain the habitat as well.

It is just amazing the gridlock that we have got there and the
things that are not happening in the places where there are oppor
tunities for things to happen. When things come from the bottom
up, I am the bottom. I mean, I am the community. I am one of the
bottom people. And that is where it is coming from. It is coming
from folks like me in the community on the bottom, coming up to
you and asking you for the chance to make this opportunity hap
pen, to have us help those forest people get along and get going
and make these projects happen.

Senator CRAIG. You mentioned the North Central RAC and that
you thought that was a step in the right direction as regards col
laboration. Do you feel the RAC process goes far enough or should
go further?

Ms. BoRowlcz. I would like you to attend one of our meetings for
the North Central Idaho RAC. They are remarkable. There is a lot
of give and take. Folks are listening. Both ends of the spectrum are
there, everybody in between. It has got a wide representation. It
is very good.
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Anytime you do write a bill, you always know that it is going to
cover most situations, but it will not cover all situations. In this
case, the Craig-Wyden bill is there as a framework, but it needs
a little fine-tuning in this one particular situation. This might not
apply to someplace else, but it does apply to our situation here. So
by honing in on that one pilot project in this one area, you can do
a lot of good and a lot of help. You cannot foresee, when you write
a bill, all circumstances. That is not for us to do, but you do your
best job when you do write a bill. But there is something that
comes up and you have to clarify it and fine-tune it a little bit
more, and that is where this would come in in connection, in part
nership with the Craig-Wyden bill, which is phenomenal. I cannot
say enough good stuff about it. It is working where we are.

Senator CisiG. Well, thank you both very much for your pres
ence here today, your time out to come testify. I know you both ap
preciate these issues with passion and commitment. We will see if
we can work our way through this one that can bring about the
kind of balance that I think, Rick, you are concerned about and the
kind of activity that Ms. Borowicz is concerned about. If we could
accomplish those two things, we might just save Elk City, and in
this instance I am not talking about saving its job base. I am talk
ing about saving its physical structure because I am extremely con
cerned that that is a community destined to experience wildfire if
we cannot in some way try to create an environmentally compatible
buffer around it that assures the water quality and the sustaining
of that community. It is a very real issue at this time.

Thank you both for attending. For any additional comments, the
record will be held open for the appropriate amount of time. We
will work with both of you as we move legislation forward to see
if it cannot be fine-tuned to gain especially groups like the Idaho
Conservation League’s support. We want them involved. We want
you participating in the process so that action is compatible with
as broad a majority or base of the interested parties in Idaho as
we can create. Thank you all very much.

The subcommittee will stand adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 4:17 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]





APPENDIXES

APPENDIX I

Responses to Additional Questions

THE HIGHlANDs COALITION
Titusuille, NJ, April 29, 2004.

HON. LARRY C. CRAIG,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Public Lands and Forests, Senate Committee on Energy

and Natural Resources, Washington, DC.
DEAR CHA.mIvIAN CRAIG: Thank you for the opportunity to testify before the Sub

committee on Public Lands & Forests in support of the H.R. 1964, the Highlands
Conservation Act. We greatly appreciate that you scheduled a hearing on this im
portant legislation, and your commitment to work with the sponsors to address the
pressing land conservation and water protection needs in our densely populated re
gion.

I also appreciate your thoughtful questions to clarify the legislation and have done
my best to respond to your questions below:

Question 1. In your reading of the bill, who is responsible to choose the high pri
ority projects to be proposed to the Secretaries: the Governors of the states, or the
Forest Service?

Answer. As I read the bill, the Governors of the Highlands states would propose
the projects to the Secretaries. However, they would be limited to selecting projects
from within areas identified as having high conservation value by the Forest Serv
ice. This process would be similar to the project selection process under the Forest
Legacy Program in which the states submit projects from within eligible Forest Leg
acy Areas that have been previously approved by the Forest Service.

Question 2. I am wondering if you can give me a better understanding of the total
area of where the Highlands projects will be located. From the bill I know it is larg
er than 2 million acres. I also know it is within the Reading Prong and other similar
ecological upland areas. But, can you help clarill’ not only the length of the High
land area, but also how wide an area is included?

Answer. The extent of the Highlands region has been well defined in NY and NJ
by the Forest Service in the NY-NJ Highlands Regional Study: 2002 Update (see
map enclosed5). Since completion of the Update, a team from the State and Private
Forestry Division of the Forest Service has met with state, local and private part
ners in both CT and PA to define a study area boundary for an extension of the
Update to the two states. The Forest Service has subsequently developed a draft
map of the region in CT (enclosed), and is finalizing a map of the region in PA. In
the interim, we have developed a revised draft map of the region in PA that we have
provided to the committee that addresses the concerns that you have raised about
the extent and integrity of the PA portion of the Highlands. We feel confident based
on our most recent conversations with the Forest Service that this map is consistent
with the agency’s current thinking and we believe that it will go a long way toward
addressing concerns raised by you and your staff.

The land area represented by our revised four-state map is approximately 3.3 mil
lion acres, and is clearly limited by geology and other scientific criteria. This figure
is significantly larger than the actual Highlands landform because the boundaries
are drawn to municipal lines, as per the methodology used by the Forest Service
for ease of analysis and administration. Furthermore, only those portions of the area
within this boundary identified by the Forest Service as having high conservation

* NOTE: All enclosures have been retained in subcommittee files.
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value would be eligible for the federal matching funds provided for in Section 5 of
the Act. Thus the net area of focus would be far less than 3.3 million acres.

The northern boundary along the entire length of the Highlands is clearly out
lined by the broad Great Valley (an Ordovician formation), which separates the
Highlands from the Ridge and Valley region. The southern edge of the Highlands
is also limited by geologic lines, beginning with Cameron’s Line in Connecticut down
to the southern edge of the Diabase Hills in Pennsylvania—in effect the southern
edge of the Appalachian region in these four states.

The eastern boundary is limited by the Connecticut-Massachusetts line (where the
Berkshire region begins), as indicated in the US Forest Service draft map, and the
western limit in Pennsylvania is the terminus of the central Diabase Hills, a Juras
sic-Triassic geologic formation that interlocks with the Reading Prong, ending close
to the Susquehanna River. With this refined boundary in place, the approximate
length of the delineated four-state region is now 250 miles, and the width averages
approximately 30 miles.

Question 3. I see in the legislation that the projects to be undertaken come from
a couple of the lists in the 1992 Highlands Study and its 2000 update. I also see
those studies only examined areas within the New York and New Jersey. Can you
help us understand how the Governors or Secretaries can submit any projects from
Connecticut or Pennsylvania given the current wording of the bill?

Answer. The intent of the legislation is that the Forest Service would first have
to identify areas that have high conservation value in Connecticut and Pennsylvania
in order for projects in those states and areas to be eligible for funding under Sec
tion 5. Toward this end, we have worked with the delegations of both states to re
quest funding of $500,000 in FY05 for the US Forest Service to complete an exten
sion of the 2002 Highlands Study Update to the two states, thereby providing this
necessary identification of eligible areas of high conservation value.

An earlier version of H.R. 1964 included the following language in Section 5(c)(5)
as an additional eligibility condition:

(e) Other similar studies conducted by the Forest Service in the Highlands re
gion

We feel that this or similar language should be included in the legislation to make
explicit the opportunity for a Forest Service extension of the 2002 Study Update to
trigger eligibility for projects from Connecticut and Pennsylvania.

Question 4. I notice there is nothing in this bill that allows for a potentially im
pacted neighbor of one of these projects to voice his or her concerns in a formal proc
ess directed by the legislation. Let’s say I am a neighbor to a parcel and I am wor
ried about the added use that will occur as a result of an acquisition. Can you de
scribe what alternative state process, for each state in the bill, would protect the
interests of the individual neighbors involved?

Answer. Under Section 5, in identifying projects for submission to the Secretaries,
the Governors would be required to take “input from pertinent units of local govern
ment and the public”. Given the densely populated nature of our region, it is gen
erally very attractive to homeowners and landowners to have adjacent properties
conserved as open space, since development of those properties typically has more
impact on local traffic and their quality of life. Property values also tend to rise for
homes adjacent to conserved lands.

By requiring the states to take input from local governments and the public, the
legislation, in my view, very appropriately leaves it to the states to determine how
this input is provided. Clarifying committee report language could make it clear
that neighbors on adjacent parcels of land be notified and given opportunity to com
ment on any proposed projects, and also that opportunity to comment come both
during and after a project proposal. As a matter of course states typically adopt this
approach, but clariing this in report language would underscore its importance.

Question 5. When we require full NEPA on even the simplest of federal projects
in my state, and we are going to utilize up to 50% Federal funding to pay for these
acquisitions, don’t you think we should impose the Federal NEPA process on these
projects in the Highlands bill?

Answer. I do not read the bill as currently written to alter any requirements for
review that might occur under NRPA. Given that NEPA review is not typically re
quired for federal matching grants for land conservation projects through the Land
and Water Conservation Fund, Forest Legacy, or other similar programs, we feel
that adding any additional NEPA requirements to this legislation would be incon
sistent with this precedent.

Question 6. Would you support exempting some projects on federal lands in my
state from NEPA if the state supports the projects?
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Answer. The mission and focus of the Highlands Coalition is limited to the four-
state Highlands region and thus we do not get involved in any issues beyond our
region. Again, I don’t read this bill to alter any requirements that might occur under
NEPA.

Question 7. Does your organization have a position on outer continental shelf oil
and gas drilling off the states of Connecticut, New Jersey, New York and Pennsyl
vania?

Answer. This issue is beyond the scope of our mission and we have no position
on it.

Question 8. I note that the bill speaks to paying for the Federal share of these
projects out of the Land and Water Conservation Trust Fund and other federal and
general funds of the Treasury. Can you be more specific about what specific funds
of the Treasury you would recommend using?

Answer. This legislation is modeled after the state and federal partnership to con
serve Sterling Forest in New York. In 1996, Congress approved $17.5 million from
the federal Land & Water Conservation Fund to match state and private funds for
the purchase of over 14,000 acres that are now part of Sterling Forest State Park.
Our assumption is that funds authorized in Section 5 of the Act would be provided
from the Federal Land & Water Conservation Fund. It is worth noting that as in
the case of Sterling Forest, any projects undertaken through the Highlands Con
servation Act would result in no new federal land ownership, and thus no new con
tinuing federal obligations.

Thank you again for your time and careful consideration of the Highlands Con
servation Act. Please let me know if you need further clarification regarding any of
these issues, or if there is any additional information we can provide.

Sincerely,
ThoMAs A. GILBERT,

Executive Director.
[Enclosures.]

OFFICE OF CONGRESSIONAL AND LEGISLATIVE AFFAIRS,
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,

Washington, DC 20240
Hon. LARRY E. CRAIG
Chairman, Subcommittee on Public Lands and Forests, Committee on Energy and

Natural Resources, U.S. Senate, Washington, DC.
DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: Enclosed are responses prepared by the National Park Serv

ice to questions you submitted following the March 24, 2004, hearing on HR. 1964,
“To establish the Highlands Stewardship Area in the States of Connecticut, New
Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania.”

Thank you for the opportunity to provide this material for the record.
Sincerely,

JANE M. LYDER,
Legislative Counsel.

[Enclosures.]

QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR CRAIG

Question 1. In your reading of the bill, who is the lead agency related to imple
mentation, the Department of the Interior, or the Forest Service?

Answer. In our reading of the bill as passed by the House, both the Secretaries
of the Interior and Agriculture have a role to play in the implementation of the bill.
The Secretary of the Interior has the lead in section 5 which provides a process by
which a list of projects eligible for financial assistance are submitted to Congress.
To be eligible, a non-Federal entity must enter into an agreement with the Sec
retary. Funds to carry out section 5 are authorized to be appropriated to the Depart
ment of the Interior, totaling $100 million over 10 years. The Secretary of Agri
culture has the lead in section 6 which provides that the Forest Service undertake
further studies and research, communicate the findings of the studies, and assist
in identifying and using relevant financial and technical assistance programs in the
Department of Agriculture. Funds to carry out section 6are authorized to be appro
priated to the Department of Agriculture, totaling $10 million over 10 years.

Question 2. Who is responsible for choosing the high priority projects to be pro
posed to the Secretaries. Is it the Governors of the States, or is it the Forest Service
or someone else?
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Answer. It is my understanding that the Governors of the Highlands States, with
input from units of local governments and the public, submit a list of proposed
projects to the Secretary of the Interior. The Secretsry of the Interior, in consulta
tion with the Secretary of Agriculture, submits a list to Congress from the list pro
vided by the Governor of those projects that are eligible to receive financial assist
ance as described in the bill.

Question 3. I note that your agency has recommended finding other funding
sources to pay for the costs of this bill. Could you provide us some alternative
sources to consider?

Answer. We believe that existing programs and authorities, such as Rivers, Trails
and Conservation Assistance, Wild and Scenic Rivers’ assistance, and the Land and
Water Conservation Fund (LWCF), among others, could be used for. the purposes
of the bill. For example, between 2000 and 2003, the Department has made LWCF
grants available to the four states totaling over $46.6 million.

Question 4. I see that your agency believed on June 17, 2003 that the bill “does
not authorize any activity not already authorized under current law.” Was there
anything added in the amendment process that changed that belief?

Answer. No.
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THREE RIVERS TIMBER, INC.,
Kamiah, ID, March 26, 2004.

Hon. LARRY CRAIG,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Public Lands and Forests, Committee on Energy and

Natural Resources, U.S. Senate, Washington, DC.
DEAR SENATOR CaMG: This letter will provide input for Three Rivers Timber, Inc.,

on 5.433, the. Clearwater Basin Project Act.
Three Rivers Timber, Inc., is a family owned, small business sawmill operation

located at Kamiah, Idaho. We employ 115 people in the mill, and provide contract
jobs to log, truck, and build roads for an. additional 85 people. Raw material for our
rurally located operation comes from private and state lands in the area. A small
portion of raw material comes from the 4 million acre Forest Service land base trib
utary to our operation. In recent years, this federal source of timber supply has been
gridlocked by procedural challenges that prevents it from significantly contributing
to the raw material needs of converting facilities in the Clearwater Basin.

During this period of gridlock, lack of active timber management has resulted in
a serious decline in forest health and other resource values. Forest insect and dis
ease problems continue unabated; resulting in an increase in serious wildfire events.
Conditions are mounting for a large, catastrophic wildfire that will threaten local
rural communities, and surely damage water and fishery resource values.

In addition, during this period one of the premier public lands elk herd in the
country has suffered a severe population crash caused by a lack of habitat. Due to
the procedural gridlock in the last eight years, active management projects designed
to provide elk habitat, particularly in winter range, have not moved forward as was
supposed to happen under forest plan objectives, As a result, winterkill has taken
the herd to low levels, and the herd has not significantly recovered despite relatively
mild winters the last few years.

Recently, new authorities, especially the Forest Health Initiative and National
Fire Plans, have given the Forest Service new management tools. Unfortunately,
there has not been a significant effort made at the local level to aggressively take
advantage of these options. Further, we have . been involved in numerous collabo
rative efforts to develop community-based projects. Ml have failed to produce an
implementable project. Either national environmental organizations have cleverly
frustrated local solutions, or the Forest Service has internally not supported these
innovative projects.

The only projects to enjoy implementation have been produced by the North Cen
tral Idaho Resource Advisory Committee acting under the authority of the Craig
Wyden legislation. We believe these efforts have been successful because of the
makeup of this particular RAC, and the unique feature of Craig-Wyden to control
funding approval and allocation.

We need 5. 433, and strongly support prompt enactment. This unique legislation
should have bipartisan political support as it can be implemented within all existing
environmental and land management laws and regulations. It does not exempt deci
sions and implementing activities from administrative appeal and judicial review,
if needed. It provides a collaborative framework to provide quality input from local
publics, and to implement actions in a more efficient and timely manner.

We also recommend use of the current North Central Idaho RAC, previously ref
erenced, as the collaborative advising panel as outlined by S. 433. This group is in
place, functioning efficiently, and can be quickly operational. This is an extremely
important feature of 5. 433, and key to finally getting projects on the ground. The
RAC has demonstrated the ability to perform.

We greatly appreciate the opportunity to comment on 5. 433. It appears to us that
this legislation demonstrates clear recognition of the serious decline of federal for
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ests in the Clearwater Basin, and provides a tool to address this problem in timely
fashion.

BILL MULLIGAN,
President.

CLEARWATER ELK RECOVERY TEAM,
Moscow, ID, March 26, 2004.

Energy and Natural resources Committee, U.S. Senate, Washington, DC.
Reference: Senate 433

The Clearwater Elk Recovery Team (CERT) advocates for the creation and reju
venation of elk forage on winter transition and summer range through logging and
burning throughout the federal forests in. Idaho’s Clearwater Basin. The CERT was
first organized as a public collaborative group for the Stewardship Pilot Project,
Middle-Black on the Clearwater National Forest. CERT members have participated
in numerous public collaborative groups for projects such as the Meadow-Face Stew
ardship Pilot Project and the Red River Stewardship Project on the Nez Perce Na
tional Forest. Most recently (January 2003-present) CERT members have taken part
in Senator Mike Crapo’s Clearwater Elk Collaborative.

The CERT and an organization called Save Elk City worked together on the ini
tial concepts and design of the Clearwater Basin Project and bill. The CERT be
lieves in the need for strong elk herds and economically strong and safe rural com
munities. Our Clearwater Basin elk herds have been reduced in many areas to
below self-sustaining levels due to lack of critical winter forage and predation by
wolves, bears and, lions.

Senate 433 will get action on the ground by focusing on the forage needs of elk
and the economic and public safety needs of rural communities in the Clearwater
Basin. Elk City residents live next to a time bomb created by diseased and dead
forests that surround them. Elk need openings in the thick forests of the Clearwater
and Nez Perce so that brush fields, grasses and forbs can provide them necessary
nourishment.

Federal forest officials in positions of leadership have failed local Clearwater citi
zens and a once world-renowned Clearwater elk herd by never adequately imple
menting the recommendations of citizen collaboration. Senate 433 will correct that
situation. Utilize the Craig-Wyden Act’s standing Regional Advisory Committee to
implement a passed Senate 433 and we can begin the process of recovering forest
health and elk in the Clearwater Basin.

The CERT strongly supports passage of Senate 433.
Sincerely,

ED LINDAHL,
Chair.

CONCERNED SPORTSMEN OF IDAHO, INC.,
Viola, ID, March 26, 2004.

Energy and Natural Resources Committee, U.S. Senate, Washington, DC.
Reference; Senate 433

The Concerned Sportsmen of Idaho, Inc. (CSI) fully supports Senate 433. Passage
of 5. 433 will take care of treating dead and dying forests in the Clearwater Basin
and provide necessary elk feed by creating disturbance in thick, fuel-choked, mid
seral forests in the Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests.

Healthy forests and healthy elk herds will contribute to the economic strength of
rural communities and will make them safe from the ravages of catastrophic
wildflres.

Members of the CSI participated in drafting the Clearwater Basin Project and the
CSI supports utilizing the presently constituted Regional Advisory Committee for
project evaluation and approval.

Please pass 5. 433 quickly so that healthy elk herds and forest health can return
to the Clearwater Basin.

Sincerely,
JIM HAGEDORN,

PresidenL
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SocIEw OF AMERICAN FORESTERS,
Bethesda, MD, March 31, 2004.

Hon. LARRY CRAIG,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Public Lands and Forests, Senate Committee on Energy

and Natural Resources, Washington, DC.
DEAR CHAIRMAN CRAIG: The Society of American Foresters advocates the develop

ment, authorization, and implementation of pilot projects to test alternative ap
proaches for managing federal forest lands administered by the U.S. Forest Service
and Bureau of Land Management (BLM). Pilot projects are needed to address and
help resolve the ecological, economic, and social challenges presented by the cur
rently complex and confusing statutory and regulatory framework that encumbers
federal lands management decision making. Forest and range health, as well as pro
ductive uses of federal lands, have declined, partly as a result of these time-con
suming and cumbersome decision-making processes. Through careful monitoring,
well-designed locally-developed pilot projects can evaluate innovative ways to im
prove deteriorating ecosystem conditions through enhanced stakeholder collabora
tion and trust, consensus building, and efficiency, while meeting congressionally es
tablished goals for federal lands. Thus pilot projects can assist further refinement
and implementation of federal land management reform at a broader scale.

The SAF believes pilot projects should incorporate collaboration, public participa
tion, environmental protection, long range planning, and multiple use and sustained
yield principles. The inclusion of objective monitoring and assessment of on-the-
ground results would greatly enhance the integrity and scientific validity of pilot
projects. The SAF supports the further development and implementation of existing
pilot projects and additional new projects.

The Clearwater Basin Project Act (S. 433) would create a pilot project on the Nez
Perce and Clearwater Forests in Idaho, allowing the Agencies to work with local
stakeholders in developing, implementing, and monitoring projects and activities on
these forests. This bill would maintain environmental protections through NEPA,
the Endangered Species Act, FLPMA, and all other applicable laws; maintain con
sistency with land and resource management plans; and provide opportunities for
public participation, through an Advisory Panel and through public meetings, public
comment periods, and appeals and judicial review. Thus, the SAP supports 5. 433
as means to test new processes on these two National Forests.

The SAP strongly supports the efforts in this legislation to improve and expedite
NEPA processes through tiering. Tiering maintains environmental review while re
moving redundancies in this review. The SAP also applauds the inclusion of moni
toring and encourages flexibility to utilize the lessons learned through this moni
toring via adaptive management.

SAP encourages Congress to consider the creation of additional pilot projects in
other regions of the country.

Thank you for your consideration.
Sincerely,

MICHAEL T. GOERGEN, JR.,
Executive Vice-President, CEO.

STATEMENT OF FRIENDS OF THE CLEARwATER ON 5. 433

Friends of the Clearwater appreciates the opportunity to submit this written
statement on 5. 433, the Clearwater Basin Project Act. We request that these com
ments be included in the hearing record on this legislation. Friends of the Clear-
water is a Moscow, Idaho-based, local conservation organization focusing primarily
on the public lands in the Clearwater basin including the Clearwater and Nez Perce
National Forests.

These public wildlands contain many unprotected roadless areas and wild rivers,
and provide crucial habitat for countless rare plant and animal species. Nearly 1.4
million acres of this project area consists of inventoried roadless land—areas that
are crucial for fish and wildlife such as salmon, bull trout, steelhead, lynx, wol
verine, fisher, and goshawk. Recent research has shown the Clearwater Basin is the
most important area, including Yellowstone and Jasper National Park, in the Rocky
Mountains of the US and Canada for the recovery of large carnivores. This area is
also a hot spot for endemism and genetic diversity.

We are concerned this bill would exclude most of the public from having an effec
tive voice on public forest management rather than foster cooperation. This bill
would greatly diminish the role of NEPA—the law that provides all citizens the



54

same rights to participate. This bill could have a detrimental effect on the public
assets, resources, and values held by all Americans.

Section 2 defines this as a pilot project. That is the exact language used by the
State of Idaho’s study called the Federal Lands Task Force. The goal of this study
is to privatize public lands. This pilot project is the implementation of one of those
proposals.

Section 2 also emphasizes stewardship contracting. That authority already exists;
this bill is redundant. In any case, stewardship contracting has a poor track record
in the region. Of the two stewardship contract projects in this region, it looks like
neither is fiscally workable The stewardship contract for the Meadow Face project
(Nez Perce National) received no bidders. It looks likely the Middle-Black project
(Clearwater National Forest) may not work as a stewardship contract for economic
reasons.

The local advisory committee make-up in section 3 would be largely special inter
ests reflecting economic and/or extractive users of public land. Public lands are not
well served by a model that amplifies a commodity/extractive interest over the pub
lic interest.

It is also important to note all committee members must be Idaho residents, “and
to the extent practicable, within or adjacent to the pilot project area.” That effec
tively precludes participation from the majority of the public. Ironically, much of the
Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests are closer to towns in Montana than
any town in Idaho. This provision also precludes participation of entities such as
Columbia River Basin Tribes in Oregon and Washington whose treaty rights are di
rectly affected by activities on the Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests.

This committee operates by a majority vote. Most so-called collaborative processes
operate by consensus.

Even though the State of Idaho’s Public Lands Task Force pilot project omitted
the Wilderness, section 4 of this bill seems to indicate this project would apply to
all of the Lochsa, Powell, North Fork, Moose Creek, Red River/Elk City, and Clear-
water Ranger Districts. As such, that includes most of the Selway-Bitterroot and
some of the Gospel Hump and Frank Church-River of No Return Wildernesses. One
of the stated reasons for this legislation is restoration of ecosystem health—a topic
of much uncertainty and controversy. The science behind the ICBEMP shows the
areas with the greatest integrity are wilderness and roadless lands. Thus, the inclu
sion of wilderness and roadless lands in this legislation is puzzling.

Section 4 makes the committee more than advisory as its schedule becomes the
priority and drives national forest management. Since the projects themselves are
labeled “priority” in the legislation, they become more important than projects that
go through the normal agency/public processes. This section also requires the Forest
Service to do NEPA and other law compliance on a draft 5-year project list within
one year, approve the final schedule within thirty days, and implement the projects.
It seems that the whole schedule would be approved in one decision document rath
er than on a project level as required by NEPA and NFMA. Currently, the agency
evaluates projects according to the forest plan and related priorities.

The schedule requires consultation, not concurrence, from the Forest Service and
Nez Perce Tribe. There is only one provision for the Forest Service to reject the
schedule, and that is in the final 30 day NEPA review period. The committee selects
and therefore drives management on the Clear-water and Nez Perce National For
ests.

It seems that noncontroversial projects would be thrown in the same mix as con
troversial ones. This is not sound policy. Also, mixing five years worth of projects
into one document or analysis can’t meet quality standards of thoughtful site-spe
cific analysis.

The bill notes in the last sentence of Section 4(d)(4) that:
“The schedule may include any amendment of the applicable forest land and re
source management plan that the advisory panel recommends or that the appli
cable Forest Supervisor determines is necessary to allow or facilitate implemen
tation of one or more activities in the schedule.”

This part of the bill will basically make forest planning meaningless, especially
coupled with section 4(f)(3). For example, the committee could suggest wholesale
changes to the forest plan standards and guidelines intended to maintain water
quality. Since the Forest Service and Nez Perce Tribe only need to consult with the
committee on the list, these could go forth under analysis even if they were not
agency priorities.

There is a real danger that non-priorities could get moved up the agenda in this
political process. While the Forest Service could reject a project in the final stage,
there is no mechanism to prevent projects from being analyzed by the agency. Rath
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er than create efficiency, this bill would create a procees that could waate agency
time.

The proposed bill states Sec. 4(0(3):
“If any review, consultation, or coordination required under the National Envi
ronmental Policy Act of 1969 or other law has not been completed for a schedule
within the required one-year period, the lack of completion shall not be a basis
for challenging or delaying submittal, approval, or implementation of an activity
in the schedule, if the applicable Forest Supervisor, in consultation with the ad
visory panel, finds that sufficient review, consultation, and coordination regard
ing the activity has occurred and a sufficient record exists to make a reasoned
decision regarding approval of the activity.”

This would effectively do away with NEPA, NFMA, the ESA and largely take the
public out of public land management. In other words, these laws are discretionary
based upon the whims of a committee and the Forest Supervisor. Public account
ability is reduced in this process.

This section assumes a project-centered approach that may not be appropriate for
much of the area. Biological constraints such as carrying capacity are not mentioned
in the legislation and there seems to be an implicit assumption that those real con
straints are irrelevant.

Section 5 requires monitoring by the Forest Service but does not spell out what
parameters are to be monitored. This section also suggests that the University of
Idaho’s College of Natural Resources monitor implementation as well. The Univer
sity of Idaho’s funding problems are well known. Asking them to do more in this
current fiscal climate could put an additional burden on the institution. It is not
clear that the U of I would receive appropriated funding for monitoring like the For
est Service.

SUMMARy

It seems the legislation is based upon an assumption the current public process
doesn’t work, at least for some who want to run the show. It is true democracy is
a messy process. However, legislating significant diminution of public involvement
and public processes by establishing imperfect surrogates and requiring strict
timelines won’t result in less controversy or better decisions. It will only increase
conflict.

STATEMENT OF THE WILDERNESS S0CIEI’v ON 5. 433

The Wilderness Society appreciates the opportunity to comment on 5. 433, the
Clearwater Basin Project Act, and requests that our comments be included in the
hearing record on this legislation. The Wilderness Society is a national environ
mental organization with 200,000 members and eight regional offices. Founded in
1935, The Wilderness Society works to protect America’s wilderness and develop a
nationwide network of wildlands through public education, scientific analysis, and
advocacy.

CONCERNS WITH S. 433

The Wilderness Society has serious concerns about the proposed legislation be
cause it would weaken environmental safeguards and unduly complicate manage
ment planning in one of the nation’s outstanding wildland areas. Rather than pur
suing a flawed and controversial “charter forest” in the Clearwater Basin, we rec
ommend that Congress provide additional funding to enable the Forest Service to
accomplish needed stewardship work in the Basin.

The proposed Clearwater Basin Pilot Project Area affects 2,719,000 acres of fed
eral land within the Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests. The streams and
forests of these federal lands provide exceptional water quality, wildlife habitat, and
wilderness resources, including some of the best habitat in the lower 48 states for
salmon, steelhead, lynx, and wolf. More than half of the Project Area—approxi
mately 1.4 million acres—consists of inventoried roadless areas.

The bill authorizes an unwieldy and burdensome decision-making and environ
mental review process for the Pilot Project Area. First, the Secretary of Agriculture
would appoint a 15-member Clear-water Advisory Panel (CAP), which would have
the responsibility to develop a proposed 5-year schedule of high priority manage
ment activities in the Clearwater Basin. The Forest Service would have the impos
sible burden of completing within 1 year all the environmental analyses, endangered
species consultations, public involvement, and any other consultation and coordina
tion on the proposed activities. The CAP would then recommend a final 5-year
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schedule to the Forest Service for approval. Upon approval of the schedule, “the For
est Service may issue any permits, contracts, or other authorizations for activities
in the schedule without further review, consultation, or coordination under the Na
tional Environmental Policy Act of 1969 or other laws.” Sec. 4(h) (emphasis added).
Apparently, the 5-year schedule would be subject to administrative appeal, but the
individual project authorizations would not. While the 5-year schedule would be sub
ject to judicial review, citizens would be barred from challenging the projects based
on incomplete environmental analysis. After 5 years, the process would start again,
with the CAP proposing a second 5-year schedule of activities. The bill also author
izes 3 stewardship contracts within the project area. The pilot project would be au
thorized to continue until at least 2012.

The proposed pilot project has several major problems. Most important, it would
be extremely difficult for the Forest Service to conduct an adequate site-specific en
vironmental review of a 5-year schedule potentially involving dozens of projects scat
tered over thousands of acres. The bill implicitly recognizes this problem by impos
ing a 1-year deadline on the environmental review and consultation process and giv
ing the CAP and Forest Service power to deem the process “sufficient.” Sec. 4(fX3).
Very likely, the Forest Service would be rushed into doing a superficial analysis of
environmental effects and providing minimal opportunity for public involvement for
anyone except CAP members. Consequently, environmentally damaging projects
could be proposed with inadequate scientific and public review, thus jeopardizing
the endangered salmon and other exceptional environmental values of the Clear-
water Basin.

The pilot project is also extremely risky because all the activities included in the
5-year schedule would be highly vulnerable to legal challenge. Ordinarily, environ
mental appeals and lawsuits focus on a relatively small number of controversial ac
tivities (like large timber sales and road-building projects), allowing non-controver
sial activities to be implemented. However, the bill essentially requires that the
analysis of all projects must be completed before any project can be implemented.
By bundling all of the CAP-proposed activities into a single decision document{the
5-year schedule), the bill practically invites a “train wreck” of complete gridlock in
the Clear-water Basin. This is not the way to build collaborative relationships over
federal land management.

Another problem with 5. 433 is that it would duplicate legal authorities already
provided by Congress. The bill’s authorization of three stewardship contracts is re
dundant, since Congress last year provided broad stewardship contracting authority
to the Forest Service for the next ten years (Section 323 of Public Law 108-7, 16
U.S.C. 2104 note). Also, direction to create the Clearwater Advisory Panel is unnec
essary, since the Forest Service already has ample authority and direction to estab
lish advisory boards for these national forests under the National Forest Manage
ment Act (16 U.S.C. 1612(b)).

PILOT PROJECTS AND “CHARTER FORESTS”

The Clearwater Basin Pilot Project originated as one of five pilot projects proposed
by the Idaho Federal Lands Task Force that would give local and state officials
greater control over nearly half of Idaho’s national forests. The Bush Administration
in 2002 suggested establishing “charter forests” within the National Forest System,
based on proposals by the Idaho Task Force and others.

The Wilderness Society strongly opposes the concept of charter forests. The na
tional forests are a cherished part of America’s natural landscape and social fabric.
Currently, the Forest Service must abide by various federal laws, policies, and plans
to protect fish habitat and other environmental values in all the national forests.
Since these are federal public lands, the agency must consider the interests and con
cerns of all Americans, including future generations, in determining appropriate
management. However, under a charter forest, local interests and concerns would
take priority, and non-local viewpoints inevitably would take a back seat.

The Clearwater Basin is a good example of why turning national forests into lo
cally-governed charter forests is a bad idea. The Clearwater and Nez Perce National
Forests provide critical spawning habitat for salmon and steelhead that migrate
through the Snake and Columbia Rivers to the Pacific Ocean. Those anadromous
fish are vitally important to commercial and sport fishermen, the tourism industry,
Indian tribes, and the general public in Oregon, Washington, and elsewhere, far be
yond the Idaho border. Yet, the State of Idaho and local interests would presume
to balance the salmon habitat protection interests of all Americans with the logging,
grazing, and mining interests of local residents.

We are very concerned that the underlying objective and effect of charter forests
would be to weaken or eliminate environmental safeguards and public participation,
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while promoting logging and other commodity uses of the national forests. Turning
national forests into charter forests to be managed by local boards for local interests
is a fundamentally flawed idea that will never fly with the American people.

COLLABORATION AND FUNDING

While the bill states that the purpose of the Clearwater Advisory Committee is
to “improv[e] collaborative relationships,” we believe that the pilot project would
have the opposite effect. Based on The Wilderness Society’s experience with collabo
rative processes in Idaho, Oregon, and elsewhere, we have learned that the collabo
ration can be a productive way to bring diverse interests together to identify and
advance mutual goals. However, collaboration takes a lot of time and patience to
find common ground; it is probably not the key to speeding up decisions, cutting red
tape, or increasing efficiency in federal land management. Existing public participa
tion and planning processes—while often frustrating—at least are somewhat reli
able and well understood.

We believe it would be a serious mistake for Congress to impose deadlines, assign
specific procedures, or otherwise attempt to formalize collaborative efforts. Collabo
rative groups need to be able to develop their own rules and procedures, based on
their unique make-up. They can function effectively and creatively as informal advi
sors to the federal land managers, complementing—rather than replacing—public
participation laws and processes. Also, any effort to turn over control of federal
lands to local interests would be extremely divisive and polarizing, likely leading to
environmental boycotts of collaborative efforts and further gridlock of federal land
management.

The Wilderness Society is a member of a collaborative group that Senator Crapo
called together to discuss elk populations on the Clearwater National Forest. One
mutual goal is that the conservative elk hunters, like The Wilderness Society, want
the Forest Service to expand its use of prescribed fire and allowing wildfires to burn.
The Clearwater National Forest allowed more wildfires to burn this year, in part
because of the growing recognition of the benefits of wildland fire. The Wilderness
Society would never have participated in this collaborative had the intention been
to short circuit or circumvent existing laws and procedures.

Congress can and should encourage the positive work of broad-based, inclusive
collaborative groups in Idaho and elsewhere by providing more financial assistance.
Restoration and monitoring of federal lands traditionally have been hampered by se
vere shortage of funding. However, these activities hold the greatest promise for
gaining broad-based collaborative support and energy. The Forest Service has many
restoration projects that are stalled simply due to lack of funds. Some money has
become available for restoration and monitoring through the federal county pay
ments Title II program adopted by Congress in 2000, but more funds are needed
to achieve on-the-ground results. Funding is also needed to help collaborative groups
operate effectively and to train local workers in restoration-oriented job skills.

Unfortunately, 5. 433 provides no dedicated funding to accomplish the steward
ship work that the bill purports to encourage. The Forest Service would have to take
money away from similar work in other regions of the country in order to pay for
the Idaho pilot project.

CONCLUSION

The Wilderness Society opposes 5. 433 and strongly recommends that Congress
steer clear of the charter forest concept. Instead, policy-makers should focus on ways
to help collaborative groups and federal land managers succeed in putting people
to work restoring the ecological integrity of public lands, for the benefit of all Ameri
cans.

STATEMENT OF ANTHONY D. JOHNSON, CHAIRMAN, NEZ PERCE TRIBAL EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE, NEZ PERCE TRIBE, ON 5. 433

On behalf of the Nez Perce Tribe, I would like to thank the Committee for allow
ing the Tribe this opportunity to share its views on the Clearwater Basin Project
Act (5. 433). The bill as written is intended to provide for enhanced collaborative
forest stewardship management within the Clearwater and Nez Perce National For
ests in Idaho, and as such will certainly effect the Nez Perce Tribe. As previously
conveyed to the Energy and Natural Resources Committee through correspondence,
the Tribe has concerns that the bill unnecessarily replicates processes already in
place and weakens environmental laws. However, if the bill is enacted there are
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amendments that the Tribe would like included in order to ensure that involvement
of the Tribe will be guaranteed and adequate appropriations authorized.

The Tribe believes that establishing the Clearwater Advisory Panel is duplicative
of an existing legislative process. Section 3 of the bill establishes the Clearwater Ad
visory Panel, “for the purpose of improving collaborative relationships and providing
advice and recommendations to the Forest Service.” However, the region already
has a North Central Idaho Resource Advisory Council (the RAC) that currently rec
ommends projects to the Clearwater and Nez Perce National Forests for implemen
tation. The RAC was established under Section 205 of the Secure Rural Schools and
Community Self Determination Act of 2000 (Public Law 106-393).

Similarly, collaboration and cooperation between local stakeholders already oc
curs. In addition to the RAC, the Forest Service actively engages local communities
and stakeholders when they are designing projects. Leadership on both national for
ests design projects with the timber industry, elk habitat (burning and thinning)
and fish habitat (road decommissioning and culvert replacement) in mind. Addition
ally, under the leadership of Senator Crapo, a collaborative process has been formed
with local industry, environmental groups, the Tribe and others to develop projects
to benefit elk.

Section 4 of the bill authorizes 3 stewardship contracts. However, stewardship
contracting already exists. Stewardship contracting authority is now a permanent
tool that the Forest Service can use for selling timber and providing other services
such as road and trail maintenance or fish and wildlife projects. On February 20,
2003, Section 323 of Public Law 108-7 authorized the Forest Service and the BLM
to implement stewardship end result contracting provisions.

In the event that this legislation is advanced by the Subcommittee, the Tribe
would like to see that section 4 is amended in order to ensure that environmental
analysis required under existing law is not diluted or eliminated. Section 4(f) dis
cusses the NEPA requirements and other legal requirements for the five year sched
ule of activities and specific projects. This section significantly reduces the level of
environmental analysis under NEPA and the ESA. Section 4(0(1) requires the For
est Service to complete all environmental analysis and consultations within one year
of the submission of the five year schedule. Section 4(0(3) states that if any legal
requirement is not met within that one year requirement, then the Forest Service’s
failure to meet the legal requirements is not a basis for challenging a project. The
five year schedule must then be approved by the Forest Supervisor, and that ap
proval is subject to administrative appeal, but presumably not on grounds such as
NEPA or the ESA. The five year schedule presumes that sufficient time should be
allocated for activity-specific environmental analysis. This section is written loosely
enough to be interpreted that there is no requirement to complete environmental
analysis on the five year schedule or on specific activities contained in the schedule,
effectively ignoring environmental laws.

The Nez Perce Tribe also requests that this legislation be amended to specifically
state that the Forest Service is authorized to enter into stewardship, action design,
NEPA compliance activity, action implementation, and monitoring contracts with
the Nez Perce Tribe. The Tribe has the demonstrated capability of performing such
work, and has a strong interest in ensuring that work performed in national forests
on and adjacent to the Reservation is carried out in a professional manner protec
tive of tribal treaty resources.

Finally, the Tribe would like the Subcommittee to include in section 6(a)(2) au
thorizing language for appropriations adequate for the Tribe to provide the technical
assistance provided for in section 4(d)(2) of the bill. Tribal technical assistance
would include input from a tribal interdisciplinary team including cultural, fish
eries, water, wildlife, soils, forestry, fire ecology tribal interests.

In summary, the Nez Perce Tribe believes that this proposed legislation is repet
itive of existing efforts, but if it goes forward it requires amendments to ensure com
pliance with existing environmental laws, clarification that the Forest Service can
contract with the Tribe to perform activities authorized by the legislation, and inclu
sion of an appropriations authorization sufficient to ensure that the Tribe can pro
vide the necessary technical assistance.

Thank you for the opportunity to share the views of the Nez Perce Tribe with re
spect to this legislation.
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STATE OF NEW YORK,
Albany, NY March 22, 2004.

Hon. LARRY E. CRAIG
Chairman, Subcommittee on Public Lands and Forests, Committee on Energy and

Natural Resources, US. Senate, Washington, DC.
DEAR MR. CHMmvrc: NeW York State strongly supports the proposed Highlands

Conservation Act (H.R. 1964) currently pending before the Senate Energy and Nat
ural Resources Committee.

The State has worked for many years with the United States Forest Service and
the Department of Interior on issues related to the conservation of the Highlands
region. We also have worked closely with Congresswoman Sue Kelly, in whose Dis
trict much of the Highlands region in New York is included, on the current version
of the legislation.

The legislation is respectful of NeW York’s long tradition of “home rule” and re
quires that any land acquisition activities that would take place as a result of the
legislation would be voluntary in nature and conducted strictly on a willing seller!
willing buyer basis, hased on priorities identified by the State in consultation with
local governments, conservation organizations and citizens in the region.

The legislation also authorizes funding for implementation of best management
practices on private forest land, which will help maintain lands in private ownership
while ensuring that these lands will also contribute to Water quality protection and
other environmental values.

Congress has an excellent opportunity this year to help the States of New York,
New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Connecticut to conserve this important region. The
attached testimony from our State Commissioner of Environmental Conservation,
Erin M. Crotty, outlines in greater detail the State’s position of support for this leg
islation.

I appreciate your consideration of this legislation.
Very truly yours,

GEORGE E. PATAKI,
Governor.

STATEMENT OF BONNER R. COHEN, PH.D., ON H.R. 1964

Good afternoon, my name is Bonner Cohen. I am a senior fellow with the National
Center for Public Policy Research in Washington, D.C. and a member of the Board
of Directors of the American Policy Center in Warrenton, Virginia. I want to thank
Chairman Craig and the other members of the subcommittee for the opportunity to
comment on the “Highlands Conservation Act,” H.R. 1964.

I believe the legislation under consideration by this subcommittee is flawed in
several key respects. At a fundamental level, it equates government ownership of
land with conservation, an idea our Founding Fathers would have found amusing,
to say the least. At least 40 percent of the land area of the United States is owned
by government—federal, state, and local. Much of this land is poorly managed—
from overgrown, disease-ridden national forests that routinely spawn catastrophic
wildflres, to national parks that are in such a state of disrepair that the Park Serv
ice estimates it will take $5 billion and many years to undo the damage. To set
aside more hard-earned taxpayer dollars for additional land acquisitions, in the
name of conservation, is to ignore the disastrous environmental consequences of the
already bloated public estate.

Unfortunately, this is exactly what the Highlands Conservation Act does. The bill
will increase the size of the public estate in the Highlands region. In doing so, it
will pose a severe threat to the rights and livelihoods of property owners in the tar
geted area. While the bill gives property owners the right to decline selling their
lands, this “willing-seller” provision is illusory. In the real world, there is no such
thing as a “willing seller.”

In the case of the Highlands Conservation Act, “non-federal entities,” also known
as non-governmental organizations (NGOs), with a clear political agenda will iden
tify lands for “management” and will oversee the ensuing conservation actions. Few
landowners will be able to withstand the pressure of environmental groups working
in concert with state and local governments, eager to acquire private lands with tax
payer money. As the public estate in the region grows, the value of adjacent private
lands will diminish. And, as property values decline, landowners will have little
choice but to sell their land at a fraction of its former worth.

Furthermore, the removal of private land from the tax roles will have a dev
astating effect on local revenues. Raising property taxes on the remaining private
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lands will be the only way local governments can make up the revenue short-fall.
This, in turn, could force additional landowners to sell their property to the govern
ment.

We are told that the bill will cost $100 million, to be disbursed in $10 million in
crements between 2005 and 2014. But there is nothing in the bill thst prevents Con
gress from continuing appropriations beyond 2014. Similarly, the scope of the bill
is currently limited to some 2 million acres in Pennsylvania, New York, New Jersey,
and Connecticut. But there is nothing in the legislation to keep the area from being
expanded to include highland areas in, say, Maryland and Vermont. In fact, the bill
grants the U.S. Forest Service the right to continue land assessments studies and
provides $1 million toward that end. As such, the legislation is an open-ended invi
tation for government and its carefully selected “partners” to lock up more land.

Indeed, equally disturbing is the cozy relationship the Highlands Conservation
Act envisages between government and certain NGOs. The governors of the four
states currently covered under the bill will identify lands in the Highlands region
for management, based on recommendations made by state and local environmental
organizations. These suggestions will then be forwarded to officials at the Depart
ments of Interior and Agriculture for review, who will submit final recommenda
tions to Congress for the purpose of appropriating the 50 percent federal share of
matching funds.

Once this process has been completed, the NGOs will set about overseeing and
managing the lands they themselves played a large part in identifying. As a sign
of just how cozy the relationship is between the NGOs and the various government
entities involved in the Highlands Conservation Act, one of these groups, the Pali
sades Interstate Park Commission, is specifically cited in the bill.

Allowing these organizations—elected by no one and accountable to no one—to
join forces with friendly state regulators supported by federal funds and impose
land-use restrictions on unsuspecting property owners makes a travesty of rep
resentative democracy. While the bill keeps federal bureaucrats largely out of the
land-management decisions, is simply replaces them with state regulators and allied
environmental groups. To the landowner, this is a distinction without a difference.

At a time of skyrocketing budget deficits at the federal, state, and local level,
using scarce taxpayer dollars to acquire more land—taking it out of productive use
and removing it from the tax rolls—makes no economic sense. The key to an eco
nomically and environmentally vibrant rural America does not lie in government
ownership of land. American agriculture leads the world not because the land is
owned by the government and managed by politically favored NGOs, but because
it is under the stewardship of farmers whose livelihoods depend on how they use
and conserve their land.

The Highlands Conservation Act ignores this lesson. If enacted, it will be harmful
for the people in the Highlands and their environment.

Thank you very much.

STATEMENT OF EmN M. CROTTY, COMMISSIONER, NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION, ON HR. 1964

Senator Craig and members of the Subcommittee on Public Lands and Forests,
thank you for providing the New York State Department of Environmental Con
servation with this opportunity to present our testimony on H.R. 1964, the High
lands Conservation Act. The enactment of this legislation can do much to enhance
the comprehensive open space conservation program that has been a cornerstone of
the administration of New York Governor George E. Pataki, and it has the strong
support of the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation, and Historic Preserva
tion as well as the Department. On behalf of Governor Pataki and my sister New
York State agencies, I want to express our appreciation to the Subcommittee for
agreeing to hold a hearing that includes this important legislation.

The Highlands spreads like a necklace of green around the New York metropoli
tan region, stretching from Pennsylvania through Southeast New York and North
ern New Jersey to Northwest Connecticut. The region in New York, about 629,000
acres encompassing all or part of 25 municipalities in five counties, contains rolling
forested hills, pristine streams and wetlands, historic sites, special geologic features
and exceptional scenic vistas and various State parks, including Sterling Forest,
Harriman, Bear Mountain, Hudson Highlands and Fahnestock, as well as several
State Forests and Wildlife Management Areas.

The Hudson Highlands has long been identified as an important resource area in
many studies and is included as a priority project in New York State’s Open Space
Conservation Plan. Under Governor Pataki’s leadership, the State has worked in
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partnership with local governments, conservation organizations, the federal govern
ment, the interstate Palisades Interstate Park Commission and the State of New
Jersey to conserve outstanding portions of the Highlands.

Indeed, since 1995, the State has acquired 26,777 acres in the Highlands area
which includes:

• The acquisition of 18,044 acres to create Sterling Forest State Park in Orange
County;

• The 794-acre Wonder Lake State Park in Putnam County;
• 5,197 acres of additions to Clarence Fahnestock State Park, Putnam County;
• 2,458 acres to create Schunnemunk State Park, Orange County;
• A 53-acre addition to High Tor State Park, Rockland County; and
• A 231-acre addition to Hudson Highland State Park in Putnam County.
The acquisition of Sterling Forest in 1998—which, at the time, was the largest

privately held undeveloped property within the region—was accomplished with the
assistance of funding from the State of New Jersey, private donations and the fed
eral Land and Water Conservation Fund. Just as this acquisition was viewed by
Congress as worthy of a commitment of federal funding to help preserve the water
supply for millions of residents of the New York Metropolitan area, the conservation
of the larger Highlands Region is deserving of the federal recognition and attention
which the Highlands Conservation Act would bring to this magnificent area.

The legislation would authorize appropriations of $10 million annually from both
the Federal Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) for state land purchases,
and $1 million annually from the United States Department of Agriculture for pri
vate landowner assistance through the United States Forest Service (USFS).

Our Department has worked for many years with the USFS and the United
States Department of Interior to promote the conservation of the Highlands region.
We worked closely with the USFS on the 2002 Highlands Regional Study, which
documented the growing need to conserve the region’s natural resources from the
increasing pace of growth that threatens to fragment the forests of the area and de
grade water quality. The State also has worked with the USFS to designate the
Highlands Region in New York State as a federal Forest Legacy Area, and received
a $1.5 million grant from the program in 2003 for the acquisition of Pochuck Moun
tain in the Town of Warwick, Orange County. The USFS also has provided funding
to the State to encourage private forest land owners within the region to develop
Forest Stewardship Management Plans which can be implemented with cost sharing
assistance from the Forest Land Enhancement Program.

A portion of the Highlands region east of the Hudson River is included in New
York City’s watershed, another vitally important economic and environmental re
source that is deserving of federal assistance, in addition to the support it is receiv
ing from the City and State agencies.

We worked closely with former United States Congressman Benjamin Oilman on
the original Highlands legislation and are grateful to Congresswoman Kelly for her
leadership on the current bill. The basic tenet of this legislation is that federal as
sistance to help conserve this region is appropriate, based on the long tradition of
local decision-making that defines the region. Any acquisitions which would be
made under this legislation would be done on a voluntary basis with willing land
owners. Priorities for conservation and private landowner assistance would be iden
tified at the local and State level, with the input and support of local governments
and citizens.

The Highlands Conservation Act recognizes the importance of the multi-state
Highlands Region, where one in nine Americans lives within a two hour drive. Land
use changes spurred by rapid population growth within this still largely rural region
have placed stresses on the area that will diminish its value as a major water sup
ply and a recreational destination for the Metropolitan New York area. Taking the
prudent steps authorized in the Highlands Conservation Act now to encourage pri
vate landowners to conserve their holdings, while augmenting the funding that is
available to public land management agencies to acquire open space in the region,
can help to ensure that this region will continue to provide millions of Americans
with irreplaceable environmental benefits.

I urge the Subcommittee to approve this legislation, and quickly forward it to the
full Committee on Energy and Natural Resources for its consideration. Thank you.
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